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INTRODUCTION

The successful Chinese Revolution is widely regarded
as one of America's most bitter defeats in the area of
world politics. The search for the reason or the cause of
this defeat has led to acrimonious witch hunting in the
United States and irrationality in the relations between

the two countries. The final verdict of the historians is
not in yet. This thesis intends to throw some light on the
question by describing and analyzing the actions of one of
the important participants who shaped United States policy
at a crucial stage and gave it the guidance and direction
which led to the debacle.

Midway in the decade of the 1900's which began with
Japan and America struggling over alleged rights in China
and ended with the effective elimination of all outside
influence from that unhappy nation, Patrick J, Hurley made

an elaborate contribution to the story. Strangely, Hurley's
vital part has been largely obscured or omitted especially
by those other participants who played dominant and

responsible roles.
Patrick J. Hurley's career in America resembled the

career of Horatio Alger, Jr.'s hero in the classic From

Ra s to Riches. In 1894, at the age of eleven, Hurley
began to work in a coal mine in the Indian Territory of
Oklahoma. At one time Hurley lived with the Indians and



learned the Choctaw language, He made an urgent effort to
fight in the Spanish-American war and managed to go as far
as Tampa, Florida, where the authorities refused him per-
mission to embark for Cuba because he was under age,

He received an education in law, and assisted in
organizing the United States Chamber of Commerce in 1912,
He fought as an officer in World War I, becoming a Colonel

by the end of that struggle. He devised what he thought
was an unbreakable code by putting Indians at both ends of
the Signal Corps telephones for the relay of orders in
Choctaw. 1

Hurley returned to his law practice after the war and
'became prominent for his efforts on behalf of Oklahoma

Indians. He represented the Indians in their struggle to
maintain control of reservation land after oil was dis-
covered in Oklahoma. Though a Republican, Hurley served in
public office during the Democratic administrations of
Woodrow Wilson, Franklin Roosevelt and Harry Truman. He

became Secretary of War in Herbert C. Hoover's administra-
tion after the original appointee, James W, Good, died. 2

Hurley happened to be in Shanghai September 18, 1931,

1U.S., Congress, Senate, Committee on the Judiciary,
The Institute of Pacific Relations Hearin s, before a
Subcommittee to investigate the Administration of theInternal Security Act, 82d Cong., 1st Sess,, (Washington~
Government Printing Office, 1951), p. 637. (Hereinafterreferred to as Hearin si Institute of Pacific Relations).

2 Don Lohbeck, Patrick J. Hurle (Chicagoi Henry
Regnery Company, 195, p. 85,



at the time of the Mukden incident which presaged Japans c

occupa4ion of I'1anchuria. On Hurley's return he met with
President Hoover and Secretary of'tate, Henry L. Stimson.
He argued that Japan wa., beginning a far-flung plan of
imperial expansion which could be blocked only by w r.
Hurley discoun4ed the idea *hat notes and diplomatic repre-

3sentation would do any good unless backed by force.
As Secretary of War, Hurley appointed Douglas I"IacArthur

as Chief of Staff of the Army. He later claimed that he

was proudest of that sponsorship. MacArthur followed
Hurley's orders in the forceful ejection of'he Bonus

II.Expeditionary Force from Washington&, D.C., July 28, 1932,
Actually a lawyer, I'urley gained reputation as an

oilman. He played a prominent role in La*in American oil
negotia*iona. Hurley negotiated an agreement between the
Republic of Mexico and five American oil corporation"
regarding Mexican expropria .ion of'merican holdings. From

the Mexican governmen* Hurley received I'lexico's highest
military decoration, From the Consolidated Oil Company he

received a fee reported to be one million dollars.
After Pearl Harbor, Hurley offered his services to the

incumbent Democratic president. Although a Republican who

Henry L. Stimson and I'IcGeorge Bundy, On Active Servicein Peace and War& (New York& Harper and Br
p& 2 3 ~

4Anna Rothe, ed ~, Current Bio ra h Who' Who and
~W& & &&, (&& Y. k H. Ã. &'& * C p &, 194& & ~ 32& ~

Lohbeck, Patrick J, Hurls , p. 150.



disagreed violently with Roosevelt on domestic matters&
6Hurley served Roosevelt in several responsible positions.

He gained the confidence of Roosevelt by his efforts to run
supplies through the Japanese blockade of the Philippines,
and by his work as United States Minister *o New Zealand in
1902. Hurley's reports from Soviet Russia during the
battles at Stalingrad and in the Caucasus during the winter
of 1942-03 provided Roosevelt with the first direct infor-
mation about Russia's capacity to withstand the German

8onslaught. Roosevelt entrusted Hurley with a series of
diplomatic missions to various countries in the Middle East.

More than six feet in height, erect in bearing and
square-shouldered, Hurley had a close-cropped mustache,
gray hair, square jaw, and blue eyes. He was handsome,
suave and well-groomed, with the bearing of a successful
man. An impressive public speaker of charm and ability,
Hurley has been described as a man who "struts sitting
down!" His properties in 1944 included eight large
buildings in Oklahoma, Kansas, and Washington, an estate
near Leesburg, Virginia, a house in Santa Fe and another
near Washington. In 1944, Hurley intervened in a complex

William D. Leahy, I Was There (New York: McG. aw-HillBook Co ~ , Inc., 1950), p. 22.

Elliott Roosevelt, As He Saw It. (Ncw York&&1» & P, 1&&i&), ~p. 20.1.
8Lohbeck, Patri ck J ~ Hurle, p. 182.

Duell,

Rothe, Current Bio ra h Who's New and Wh
pp 322-23 '



wartime situation which had originated with a con frontati on

between two complex individuals; Chiang Kai-shek and

General Joseph W. Stilwell.



HAPTER I

STILWELL'S DIFFICULTIES WITH CHIANC KAI-SHEK

President Franklin Roosevelt and Secretary of State
Cordell Hull followed a policy imposed by the sensitivi.ty
of Generalissimo Chi.ang Kai-shek in November, 19~II, Hull
informed Chinese envoys of a proposed modus vivendi with
the Japanese. Chiang expressed his displeasure and

instructed T. V, Soong, his brother-i.n-law in Washington,
to convey that displeasure to Secretary of War Henry L.
Stimson and Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox. Chiang
argued that any relaxation of restrictions against Japan by
the United States would les,d to a collapse of'hinese
morale and resistance. Chiang claimed that the United
States was inclined to appease Japan at the expense of
China. Thus the question of Chinese morale and resi tance

1

prompted a virtual United States ultimatum to Japan rather
than a temporizing modus-vivendi.

After the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor the Ameri-
cans resolved to keep China in the war. and help her to

2exact a constantly growing price from the Japanese, 'o
1 Cordell Hull, The Memoirs of Cordell Hull, {New York:The Macmillan Company, 19-i8, 1I, 107$ -81,
2Stimson and Bundy, Cn Active Service in Peace andWar, p. 528.



achieve this goal tI e United States relied almost wholly on

advisors, A"'d, although authorized 'by Congress, could not
be delivered to China because of Japanese blockade, Secre-
tary Stimson selected General Hugh A, Drum as best
available man to direct American efforts in China. Drum

complained to Chief of Staff General George C. MIarshall
that the War Department plan concerning China was nebulous,
uncertain and indefinite. Drum attacked the China plan,
claiming it to be inconsistent, of limited nature and

subject to indignities relative to command, The plan was

not changed. Instead, I"Iarshall offered the position to hi
good friend I"Iajor General Joseph W. Stilwell. T, V. Soong
investigated Stilwell's record and gave approval for his
appointment. Stilwell regarded the assignment as a "burnt
sacrifice" and accepted with the reluctance of a "sacri—

ficial goat," Before his departure for Chungking February
411, 1942, Stilwell was promoted to Lieutenant General.

Stilwell had served in China during the late 1930's
and had great faith in the worth of the Chinese soldier as
a fighting man--if properly fed, paid, trained, equipped,
and led. Upon arrival in China on I"Iarch 4, lo42, Stilwell
assumed command of two Chinese armies in Burma. His

Forrest C, Pogue ~ G C M
~Ho e, (New York& The Vi g, 9

4Theodore H. White, ed., The Stil
York~ I'IcFadden-Bartell Corpor
(Hereinafter cited as Stilwell Pa ers)

(New



efforts to halt the Japanese offensive failed and by the

end of'pril 1942, the Japanese closed the Burma Road, the

only link between China and the outside world. Stilwell
decided that his major task would be to open the Burma

Road. He considered himself the "stooge who doe the dirty
work and takes the rap."

Stilwell found his job complicated by variable and

informal channels of command and communications. Madame

Chiang addressed the American Congress in February, 1942,

and pleaded for more aid to China, especially airplanes.
This plea, together with that of'rigadier General Claire
L. Chennault& had the support of Harry Hopkins, Special
Advisor to the President. Chennault enjoyed the confi-6

dence of'hiang and Madame Chiang and also had direct
access to the White House. Dr. Lauchlin Currie, assistant7

to Hopkins, established a special relationship with T. V.

Soong thus supplying Chiang with another link to high
officials in the American Government. When Chiang or
Madame Chiang made their protests directly to Roosevelt
they claimed Stilwell to be at fault, Stilwell became the8

American whipping boy" in China and he recognized himself

Ibid., p, 71.
6Herbert Peis,

University Press& 19
(Princeton: Princeton

Pogue, George C. Marshall: Ordeal and Ho e, p. 354.
8Stilwell Pa ers, p. 43.



as such. He was vulnerable and erved two bosses, on!e-

times three. Stilwell accepted responsibility for
providing the supply, training, and leadership to go with
China's huge pool of'easant muscle and courage, but as
Chiang's military chief of staff Stilwell had no authority,
An incompatibility resulted from the difference between the
strategies of'he two men. Chiang wanted vast quantities
of military supplies and the participation of strong Allied
forces in the war in Asia. Stilwell proposed not only to
train and equip the Chinese troops and get them into battle,
but to reorganize the National Army. Chiang refused any
basic changes'he President considered removal of
Stilwell but Marshall dissuaded him from making a change.
The Chiang-Stilwell relationship mellowed as the war

stagnated. 10

From late spring 1942 to early winter 1900 Allied war

policy in China was reduced to contests between wills,
staff conferences, desk drudgery, intrigue, ambition, and

politics. A "Europe first" strategy coupled with an
unconditional surrender edict relegated the war against
Japan to the lowest priority. In the war against Japan,
China had the lowest priority except for aircraft. Though

Charles F. Romanus and Riley Sunderland, UnitedStates in World War Iii China-Burma-India Theater:Stilwell's Mission to China Washington: Department of theArmy, 1953 , pp. 7 , 11 -15'0

Pogue, Geor e C. Marshall: Ordeal and Ho e, p. 369.
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Chiang had in reality done little fighting against the
Japanese, the contributions by Chennault's Flying Tigers
somehow added to a myth that China was fighting the
Japanese.

In October, 1942, Chennault told Roosevelt that "with
105 fighters, 35 medium bombers, and 12 heavy bombers," he

11could detest Japan from the air in six months. Chen-
nault's plan required little effort on the part of the
Chinese, while Stilwell's plan required "the humdrum work
of building a ground force." Stilwell's strategy never

„12

de~eloped. Chiang could not agree to the strengthening of
any independent military groups, a vital element for
Stilwell's plan. The most important point in Chiang's
resistance to Stilwell was "that it would be risky to have
an efficient trained unit under the command of a po ible
rival." 1

Marshall and Stimson supported S*ilwell in his
contention that "any increased air offensive that stung the
Japs would bring a strong reaction that would wreck every-
thing and put China out of the war," I'1arshall pointed

„10

11Claire L. Chennault, Wa of a Fi -hter (New York:G. P. Putnam's Sons, 19+9), p. 21
12Stilwell Pa ers, p. 167.
13Ibid., p ~ 180.

Charles F. Romanus and Riley Sunderland, UnitedStates Arm in World War II: China-Burma-India Theater,Stilwell's Command Problems. Washington: Department ofthe Army, 195 , p. 322.
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out to Roosevelt that the problem in "air operations is
ground protection for the air-dromes as soon as our

air effort hurts the Japs, they will move in on us . . . cn

the ground." Chiang countered this argument byil5

assurances to Roosevelt that any Japanese attempts to

interrupt the air offensive by a ground advance would be

halted by existing Chine e forces. Chennault argued that16

his aircraft would repel any Japanese attack. Chiang17

favored Chennault because such a strategy demanded abso-

lutely nothing of him,

In Nay, 1943, General Marshall summoned General

Stilwell and General Chennault to Washington to meet with

President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill, plus the

Combined Chiefs of Staff, to discuss China policy. The

President agreed with Chiang and Chennault and gave

Chennault the priorities for supplies which he requested. 18

Like Hull in November, 1901, Roosevelt rationalized this
decision with references to the need of bolstering Chine e

morale. Chennault received twice as much as he asked19

15,Memorandum, Narshall to Roosevelt, Narch 16, 1943,
quoted in Feis, The China Tan le, pp. 59-60.

16Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to
China, p. 320'7

Chennault, Wa of a Fi hter, p. Z14.
18Maurice Matloff, United States Arm in World War II.

The War De artment, Strate ic Plannin- for Coalition War-
Washington& Department of the Army,

Feis, The China Tan le, p. 6),
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for, Stimson thought the supply service to Chennault over

the mountains in Burma would cost an extra winter of'ar in
20Europe because it consumed so many planes. President

Roosevelt rejected Stilwell's suggestion that negotiations
with Chiang 'be conducted in a manner which would require
some action on the part of Chiang. Tact, instead of a21

stern approach, would be used in handling Chiang.

Stilwell's persistent efforts to fight the Japanese
acerbated relations with the British as well as the

Chinese. The British were called upon to make an effort in
Asia. This they refused to de At Cairo, December 5,

1943, the invasion of'outhern France won out over an
22amphibious operation previously scheduled against Burma.

Thus, military considerations negated political objectives.
Military objectives in Europe obviated any hope f'r China

to emerge i'rom the war as one of the Big Four, an idea
which became American policy at Moscow in October, 1943.
China was not to be liberated by opening the Burma Road,

20Stimson and Lundy, On Active Service in Peace and
War, p, $ 38,

21Natloff, Strate ic Plannin for Coalition Warfare,
~1'S 1kb,-p. 86.

Ibid., pp. 356, 370, 385.
23Stettinius to Grew, Nay 23, 1944, U, S. Departmentof State, Forei n Relations of the United States Di lomaticPapers 1 4 , China, UI, Washington, DE C. : GovernmentPrinting Office, 1967)y p. 230, (Hereinafter cited asForeim Relations, 1944, VI,)
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and without liberation the Chinese military deterioration
accelerated. A later decision in 1944 precluded a landing
on the coast of China. There was to be no large scale
operation on the Asiatic mainland, Not dramatic decisions,
these were decisions by default. The policy makers proved
reluctant to impose additional and perhaps unnecessary
strain upon the American economy to achieve a liberated
China. Japan was to be defeated by other means.24

One fundaments1 factor which influenced these American

decisions with regard to China was the Chairman of the
Council of Commissars of the Soviet Union, Iosif V, Stalin.
Stalin gave unsolicited assurances directly to the other
two Chiefs of State on November 28, 1943, that he would

enter the war against Japan as soon as the European con-

flict ended. After this commitment by Stalin at Teheran,25

Roosevelt revealed two fundamental policies relating to
China. According to Elliott Roosevelt, Chiang agreed to
form a democratic government in China. Roosevelt, on his
part was to keep the British out of China after the war. 26

Roosevelt gave Chiang his personal promise that no British
warships would enter Chinese ports. Chiang agreed to

24Matloff, Strate ic Plannin for Coalit ion Warfare,
44, p. 32

25Roosevelt, As He Saw It, pp. 164, 203.
26Summary Notes of Conversations between Vice President

Wallace and Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek, June 21, 1944,
Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 232.



invite the Communists into the National Government of China
while the war was still being fought. The underlying27

basis for the agreement was a scheduled Burma offensive.
After Cairo it became Stilwell's task to return to

China and tell Chiang that the Allies would renege on their
commitment to relieve China. Stilwell asked for and
received authority to begin a Burma Campaign with his five
Chinese divisions plus 3,000 Americans known as Merrill's
Narauders. Stilwell spent the first six months of 1944

28

in Burma with a mission and function of strictly military
nature ~ His maximum goals were to hold the Myitkyina,
Burma area as an air base with supply by road, air, and
pipeline. The reopening of communications with China would

29require an American corps and more engineers. Marshall
refused to provide United States troops. Stilwell actually
achieved some victories, but progress was extremely slow,
In May, 19%, Marshall ordered Stilwell to stockpile
supplies to support Pacific operations. The result was a
further curtailment of deliveries to China over the only
supply link with China, a five-hundred mile long ferry
service over the "Hump" of the Himalayas--the most diffi-
cult supply operation of the entire war. 30

27Roosevelt, As He Saw It, pp, 164-65,
28Stilwell Pa ers, p. 272.
29Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to China,363.

Ib3.de i pps 362'6 ko



One element was well supplied in China. The priori-
ties in logistical supplies provided Chennault with more

than he originally requested. The effort, however, added
to inflation because airfield construction and troop
support facilities raised local prices. The introduction31

of B-29 bombers into the CBI theater further complicated
economic and supply matters during 1944. This newly32

organized XX Bomber Command produced a ritual of violent
struggle among Chennault, Chiang and Stilwell over who was

to command this new instrument of war. Washington decided
to retain control in the Joint Chiefs of Staff much like a
fleet at sea. The effort, code named MATTERHORN, was

supposed to be fully self-supporting, but it actually
received more logistical support than the Chinese Army.

The Japanese responded to increased air raids by
striking at the Chinese air bases. The Japanese drive to
eliminate East China air bases, met small resistence during
1944. In seven months, from Nay to November, 1944, the
Nationalists reportedly lost 700,000 troops, 146 towns,
200,000 square kilometers of'erritory, 25 airfields and

Arthur N. Young, China's Wartime Finance and
31

I fl t' 4 (Cambridge, Mass& Harvard University
5 p 7 ~

Romanus and Sunderland, United States Arm in World
32

War II& China-Burma-India Theater~ Time Runs Out in CBIWashington& Department of the Army, 1959, pp. 11 -15.
35lbid.
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control of more than 60,000,000 people. Chennault was
34

seriously compromised by the easy Japanese victories, as
was President Roosevelt and Chiang. Stilwell was not
sympathetic to their predicament, Not only strategy, but
Roosevelt's concept of'hina as a great power suffered,35

Chiang displayed an unwillingness to assist area
commanders of'is own army during the last half of 1944.
He was willing to see his Army commanders suffer loss of
"face" in defeat because he feared that a victory would
undermine his position in China. The American Army his-
torians reported&

The Generalissimo refused to give arms to the Chinesecommanders in east China, while some of them soughtJapanese and American support for a revolt againsthim. General Chennault threw his every resource intosupporting the east China Commanders and later chargedStilwell with ulterior motives when the latter wouldnot ship arms to them; in pagt because of theGeneralissimo's injunction.3
Stilwell asked that Chennault be relieved for insubordi-
nation because his aid to Chinese commanders was in
violation of directives to Stilwell from Chiang.

On June 3 the Generalissimo called Stilwell to Chung-
king. Stilwell could not resist the proverbial "I told

38

34,Jerome Ch'en, Mao and the Chinese Revolution (London~Oxford University Press, 1965 , p. 2 0,
35Feis, The China Tan le, p. 95.
36Romanus and Sunderland, Time Runs Out in the CBI, p. 4 .

Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to China,p, 364,
38Ibid., p, 366,



you so," at least in his diary entry. Stilwell requested39

permission from Washington to use B-29 stocks to assist the
Chinese armies, but that project was now a favorite of the
President, so refusal was forthcoming, Faith in strategic
bombardment was at a high pitch, The War Department

answered Stilwell's request thus:
It is our View that the early bombing of Japan will
have a far more beneficial effect on the situation in
China than the . . . transfer of'hose stocks to
Chennault . . . fKe B-29' must not be localized
under any circumstances any more than we would solocalj.ze the Pacific Fleet, Please keep this inmind.+0

Stilwell summed it up in his response, "Instructions
understood . . . I have few illusions about power of'ir
against ground troops. Pressure from G-NO forced the
communication." Stilwell returned to Burma and then to„Al

Ceylon to take over South East Asia. command duties in the
absence of Lord Louis Nountbatten, the senior commander.

The deterioration of'he situation in China caused
concern in Washington. When Roosevelt became apprehensive
about the possibilities for China holding out until the end

of the war, he asked Vice President Wallace to go to China.
Wallace was to explain to Chiang that China had been
recognized as one of'he four Great Powers primarily

Stilwell Pa ers, p. 240.
40Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Command Problems,p. 369.

Ibid.
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because of Secretary Hull. The Generalissimo must, not let
America down after America had pinned such faith and hope

42on China as a World Power.

Wallace arrived in China June 20s 1944. Chennault
assigned Lieutenant Joseph W. Alsop, public relations man

and advisor to Soong, as Wallace's "air aide." The former
nationally syndicated columnist who had known Wallace

socially and professionally, admitted to drafting a letter
to Roosevelt signed by Wallace requesting Stilwell's
relief. Stilwell knew that Alsop presented the case

4,3

against him to the Vice President in a biased manner.
Wallace's report to Roosevelt read in part&

I consider vital our need for a more vigorous andbetter coordinated American representation in China--in Chungking, Our effort in China, and its military
and related political aspects, requires more positivedirection, and closer cooperation from the Chinese, ifthis area is to be employed as ap effective base ofoperations against the Japanese.

Wallace recommended that Roosevelt "appoint a personal
representative" of the highest caliber in whom political
and military authority could be united. Without the
appointment of'uch a representative the situation would

42Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Command Problems,p. 369.
4,3Hearin sc Institute of'acific Relations, p. 1461.Alsop went to China on a Lend-Lease mission and stayed onas an aide to Chennault,
4,4.

Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to China,
p ~ 375

'"rolls* eo Ro*s* el*, June 28, 19aa, ~s*'
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drift from bad to worse. Stilwell was not the man.
Wallace recommended General Albert C. Wedemeyer, Deputy
Chief of Staff, Headquarters of'upreme Allied Commander

46

Wallace's recommendations fell into limbo temporarily.
The War Department functioned more efficiently and rapidly.
On July 1 Marshall asked Stilwell if he thought there was
any way at all the situation in China might be redeemed.
Stilwell responded without enthusiasm and no optimismc

There is Still a faint chance to salvage something inChina but action must be quick and radical and theG-MO must give one commander full powers. If thePresident can get this idea across, we can at leasttry hoping that a weak and disjointed effort, by dintof numbers and determination, might stop the Japsbefore they finish breaking up all resistance, Thechances are def'initely q~t good, but I see no othersolution at the moment.

Marshall recommended Stilwell's promotion to General. 49

The Joint Chiefs of Staff placed Chennault's promises in
one column, then pointed out how Chennault had failed on
each. Against them they placed Stilwell's predictions and
related the fulfillment of each. 50

46Wallace to Roosevelt, message number two, June 28,1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 237.
gpRomanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to China,p. 380.
48Ibid,, p. 381 .
4.9Ibid,, p. 384. Stilwell was promoted on 1 August,1944. ~e hen shared the rank with Marshall, MacArthur,Eisenhower and Arnold.
50Ibid., p. 382.
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The American attempt to persuade Chiang to accept
Stilwell as Commander of Chinese armies in China began with
a message, July 6, 1944. Roosevelt, in a message drafted
by Marshall, admitted air power could not stop a determined
enemy, then, "I recommend . . . you recall him gtilwelg
from Burma and place him directly under you in command of
all Chinese and American f'orces."1l 51

General Nathan Ferris, Chief of Staff for Air, accom-

panied by John S. Service, one of four political advisers
on Stilwell's staff, delivered the message personally to
Chiang in order to avoid intermediaries. This procedure52

became necessary after some messages from Roosevelt to
Chiang went undelivered or were altered to soften the
language.53

Roosevelt's effort to save the situation in China
caused Chiang to intensify his own diplomatic manipula-
tions. Chiang responded to Roosevelt's request to place
Stilwell in command of all Chinese forces with an agreement

51Ibid.g p. 383.
52 ..U.S, Congress, Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations,State De artment Em lo ee Lo alt Investi ation Hearin s,before a Subcommittee on Foreign Relations, Senate on

S. Res. 231, 81st Cong., 2nd sess. (Hereinafter referredto as Hearin ss State De artment Em lo ee Lo altInvesti ation , Service later felt that his presence atthis and another later meeting may have incurred Chiang'swrath, See Transcript of proceedings of the LoyaltySecurity Board meetings in the case of John S, Service
May 1950, pp. 1902-2380.

53Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to
China, p. 175 '
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"in principle" but asked for a preparatory period and

included the followingi

I very much hope that you will be able to despatch aninfluential personal representative who enjoys yourcomplete confidence, is given with full power and hasa far-sighted political vision and ability, toconstantly collaborate with me and General Stilwell soas to enhpnce the cooperation between China andAmerica.5'+

On July 15, General Ferris, again accompanied by Service,
delivered to Chiang a message from Roosevelt which agreed
to appoint a political go-between but urged Chiang to
appoint Stilwell and "we should not delay,"~5 Roosevelt
made at least five specific requests personally and direct-
ly to Chiang Kai-shek to appoint Stilwell commander of all
forces, Chinese and American, in the China Theatre. Chiang
did not do so.

Chiang and Roosevelt arrived at tentative arrangements
in another matter. Only a decision as to timing remained.
Before Roosevelt departed on a month long tour of the
Pacific he sent Chiana a message which summarized the
understandingK

I have noted with particular satisfaction yourassurance with regard to the negotiations now in prog-ress with the Chinese Communists that only politicalmeans will be employed in seeking a solution. I alsowelcome the indication which Mr. Wallace has given methat you desire better relations between China and the

54.Ohisos K i-sh k to Roos* 1t, J ly R, 19th, ~sos*i

Hearin sK State De artment Em lo ee Lo alt
Command Problems, p. 386.
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U.S.S.R., and am giving serious thought *o yoursuggestion that I use my good offices to arrange for aconference between Chinese and Soviet representatives.It occurs to me that any such conference would begreatly facilitated if, prior thereto, the ChineseGovernment had reached a working arrangement with theChinese Communists for effective prosecution of thewar against Japan in north China, In this connection,
Mr. Wallace has also informed me of your encouragingremark that a settlement with the Communists would
make it possible to carpy out your democratic programearlier than expected.5o

Roosevelt's cryptic references to the Soviet Union were

necessary because Stalin forbad any overt connection with
China. Stalin could ill afford antagonizing Japan and he
never allowed any of the persistent American arguments to
sway him. His Far Eastern flank was f'ar too vulnerable to
Japanese attack and he held Chiang and the Americans at
arm's length until his own purposes could be served.

The vision of a strong, free and united China seemed
within reach in the summer of 1944. The character of the
leader of China was such that such a vision should have
been dim. Service described Chiang's deficiencies and
character as well as his goals thus'hiang's

experience as a young man in Shanghai isimportant to an understanding of his methods. As abroker he learned to push his luck when things seemedto be going his way. From his contact with thegangster underworld he learned the usefulness ofthreats and blackmail. To these he adds the tradi-tional Chinese habits of bargaining and of'laying offone opponent against another. Chiang shows thesetraits in everything he does. He has achieved andmaintained his position in China by his supreme skillin balancing man against man and group against group,

56Rooo *14 ** Ohi R, J ly 14, 1944, P~orRelations 1 04 VI, 245.
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by his adroitness as a military politican rather than
a military commander, and by reliance on a gangstersecret police. Chiang expects America to defeat Japanfor him. And in the process to strengthen his externalposition by diplomatic support, and his internalposition by financial aid and by improving and supply-ing his armies. The fundamental consideration todayof Chiang and the Kuomintang is not the war againstJapan but the continuing struggle for internal power,the desire to liquidate the Communists and the almostcertain inevitability of civil war. Chiang believesthat by bluff and by taking advantage of our weaknessand lack of unity in dealing with him, he can evade
American efforts to jolt him out of his course. Hebelieves that we are so committed to him that he can'have his cake and eat it too,'57
At first glance, a diplomatic struggle during the last

half of 1944 between China and the United States would seem

to have been completely unequal'hiang wanted lend-lease,
credits, and air support, and the United States was the
only source. Unfortunately, the milieu around the Presi-
dent in the form of his advisors created serious inconsis-
tencies. Most hoped to see China become strong and
democratic and a stabilizing power in the Far East, Hopes,
rather than realities determined goals. With the public
sympathizing over a mythological past, the Army concerned
with a dominant present, and the President visualizing the
future, a picture emerged in an astigmatic form, The

Headquarters in China, the Embassy and the State Department
had the benefit of at least one penetrating analysis and
some advices

Gauss to Hull and enclosures, fliarch 23, 1944,893.00/15338, State Department File, National Archives,Records from the National Archives will be hereinaftercited as follows'.A., File number and document number,(N.A,, 893.00/1(3).
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Until the President determines our policy, decides ourrequirements, and makes these clearly and unmistakably
known )o Chiang, Chiang will continue in his presentways.5

Six months later Service observed9

By continued and exclusive support of the Kuomintang,
we tend to prevent the ref'orms and democraticreorganization of the government which are essentialfor the revitalization of'hina's war effort.
Encouraged by our support the Kuomintang will con-tinue in its present course progressively losing theconfidence of the people and becoming more and moreimpotent. Ignored by us, and excluded from the
Government and joint prosecution of the war, the
Communists and other groups will be forced to guardtheir own interests by more direct opposition.&9

The essential element of every report of this nature was

the basic concept that the war against Japan was a pressing
problem to United States policy makers and that China was
expected to take part in that war. By early winter 1944,
this was not the case. Many f'actors contributed to this
change in policy. Into this backwater of the war where
there was more intrigue than fighting, Roosevelt introduced
another advisor to Chiang, At 10~(X) a,m., September
1944, a plane landed in Delhi, India with Major General,
Patrick J. Hurley on board. 6o

Service to Colonel Joseph K. Dickey, Assistant
58

Chief of'taff, G-2, USAF-CBI, March 20, 1944'opy Gaussto Hull, March 23, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 39.
59Nemo aod by d r i *, Qo* b r 10, 1944, ~yor i
6oStilwell Pa ers, p. 250 ~



CHAPTER II

HURLEY IIiJTERVEHES

President Roosevelt honored Chiang's request for a
Personal Representative to visit China. Chiang's request
for an envoy coincided with a visit by Patrick J. Hurley to
his old friend Secretary Stimson. Hurley's interest in a
military assignment dated from Pearl Harbor and he requested
such an assignment in August, 1944. He also inquired about
the Ambassadorship to China. Stimson referred Hurley to

1

General Marshall, who concluded that Hurley would like to
be the President's special envoy tn China. Under Secre-
tary of State Stettinius considered Hurley in line for the
Ambassadorship, but decided to postpone announcement until
the appointment was made.

The President returned to Washington on 17 August, and

1Stettinius to Hull, August 3, 1944, Forei n Relations,
~1 44, VI, 247. During a visit to China in 19 3 Hurley madean excellent impression on both Chiang and Stilwell. Hedecided at that time that Chiang devoted his main effortsto the maintenance of internal security and supremacy asagainst the objective of'efeating Japan. Hurley toRoosevelt, October 16, 1943& U.S. Department of State.Forei Relations of'he United States China 1 4Washington, D. C. Government Printing Office, 19 3pp. 163-66.

Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to China,p. 416.
3Stettinius to Hull, August 9, 1944, Forei n Relations,

~1 44, VI, 248.
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found H. H. Kung, another Chiang Kai-shek brother-in-law,
ready with the Generalissimo's detailed preconditions for
Stilwell's appointment over all forces in China. Marshall

and Stimson also presented the Generalissimo's request for
an agreement to the Hurley Mission. The President brushed

aside Chiang's preconditions9

I do not think the forces to come under GeneralStilwell's command should be limited except by their
availability to defend China and defeat the Japanese

I feel sure that General Hurley will facilitate
General Stilwell's exercise of command . . . that it
will not be necessary to delay ma@tters until each
detail is considered and settled.

On August 18, 194@, Roosevelt directed Hurleyc

You are hereby designated as my personal representa-
tive with Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek, reporting
directly to me. Your principal mission is to promoteefficient and harmonious relations between the
Generalissimo and General Stilwell, to facilitate
General Stilwell's exercise of command over the
Chinese armies placed under his direction. You will
be charged with additional missions.5

Hurley's mission was limited--"to help iron out any

problems between you ghiang Kai-shekJ and General Stil-
well

The decision in August, to send Hurley to act as a

mediator between Chiang and Stilwell reflected the lack of

4.
Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Mission to China,

p, 016,
5Roosevelt to Hurley, August 18, 1940, Lohbeck,Patrick J Hurle , pp. 233-34 . This directive does notexist in Department of State files; Porei Relations,

~144 9 YI, 250,
6Root 1t *o Oh'shs, A Ro t 19, 1944, ~sr 1
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clear objectives and a lack of any firm United States
policy vis-a-vis Chiang or China, There was no United
States policy. The decision also reflected the failure to
utilise existing channels of communications. Chiang had

access to policy makers in Washington and effectively
circumvented all United States representatives in China.
An expressed whim by Chiang met acquiescence in Washington

while a lack of'uidance continued a policy vacumm in China

proper. The condition reflected irresponsibility at the

highest levels.
In the United States in August a recurring fight flared

up between Donald Nelson, Director of the War Production
Board and his assistant, Charles Z. Wilson. As early as
1943 Stimson and Knox had tried to get Nelson replaced by
Bernard N. Baruch so that the military could gain greater
control of the United States wartime economy. With

planning in the United States oriented toward post-war
developments Roosevelt decided to send Nelson on a four to
six month survey of the Chinese economy. His mission was

to determine the role of the United States in postwar China
and determine whether loans should be underwritten by the
United States Government or private American capital. 8

7Letter Roosevelt to Bernard N. Baruch, February 5,1942. Elliott Roosevelt& ed., F.D.R. His Personal Letters,
~l 28-1 4Q, Vol. II. (New Yorki Duell, Sloan and Pearce,
1950), pp, 1396-97'elson and Wilson were businessmen
known as "dollar-a-year-men."

8Roo * elt ** N 1 *n, A gu * 18, 1904, ~P*
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Nelson accompanied Hurley on a mission designed to help
China get on her feet economically and to make Chiang

realize that the United States was not an economic

exploiter. 9

Nelson's mission was to establish a War Production
Board in China capable of'ustained planning both during
the war and in the post-war period, Hurley's mission was

to act simply as a buffer between Stilwell and Chiang.
Nelson accomplished his mission in about two weeks and,

though pressured by Chiang to take over the War Production
Board in China, Nelson returned to the United States and

reported to President Roosevelt in &washington on Septem-
ber 27 '0

Hurley's mission became more complicated than that of
Nelson. This complication materialized out of Hurley's own

actions and responses'. Freeman Matthews, Deputy
Director of the Office of European Affairs, alerted Hull to
%he fact that Hurley and Nelson intended to stop in Moscow

to get useful information regarding the Soviet attitude
toward China and suggestions as to the line which should be
adopted in dealings with Chiang Kai-shek, Hull checked11

Roosevelt to Nelson, August 18, 1944, Roosevelt,
F AD.R. His Personal Letters& II, 1530,

10Memorandum of conversation between Chiang and Nelson,September 19, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44, YI, 274,
11Matthews to Hull, August 24, 1944, Forei Relations,

~1 44, Vl, 252.



with the President and alerted Ambassador Harriman in
Russia. Hurley had no instructions from Hull or the

12President to go to Moscow. In Moscow Hurley received a
promise from V. M. Molotov, Soviet Commissar for Foreign
Affairs, to keep hands off China. Molotov also revealed to
Hurley that the Moscow Communists did not consider the
keenan Communists of China real Communists. 13

The day after Hurley arrived in Chungking he made an

optimistic report to Roosevelt. The Generalissimo stated
to General Stilwell and to Hurley that he was prepared to
give General Stilwell actual command of all forces in the
f'ield in China and that with this command he also gave to
him his complete confidence. Hurley told Roosevelt and

14

Marshall that there was good prospect for unification of
command in China and that the Generalissimo showed a
definite tendency to comply with Roosevelt's wishes. 15

Marshall thought the issue settled. Stilwell was
16

pessimistic. Hurley believed Chiang implicitly,17

12Hull to Harriman, Ambassador to the Soviet Union,August 30, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 253.
13Herri m *e H 11, mepteme r 5, lppp, ~pr i
14Hurley to Roosevelt and Marshall, September 7, 1944,Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 154.
15Ibid.
16Feis, The China Tan e, p. 173.
17Stilwell Pa ers, p, 257; Gauss to Hull, September,1944, Forei n Relations 1 44, VI, 256-59; Memorandum forthe President "Situation in China." September 25, 1944,



Ultimately Hurley became a tool for Chiang to use. It is
difficult to imagine that Chiang did not recognize Hurley

as a fortuitous instrument to resolve a number of outstand-

ing dilemmas. It can be safely assumed that this was

Chiang's intention from the first. Chiang could not have

chosen a more appropriate man himself.
The United States was well advised of conditions in

China. The Chinese, under Chiang, stagnated f'r seven

years, From 1938 the Japanese controlled China's cities,
her industry, and her coastline. Emboldened by the success

of Hitler and Nussolini in their victories over England and

France, Japanese leaders thought in terms of a huge east
Asian empire extending from Nanchuria to Australia, The

vast hinterlands of China did not attract the Japanese

militarists until 1944 and then only for the reasons that
Stilwell had mentioned. Japan considered the China main-

land as the "inactive Theater of Operations." Neaningful '-

hostilities ceased in China except in the Liberated Areas

controlled by the Communists.

, Aside from the war against the Japanese, unless Chiang

could be induced to make political reforms or accept
coalition government, there was going to be civil war, and

many observers thought the Communists would win. Even

Chennault detected strength, dynamic growth and support f'r

I'J. A. File 893,01/9-1644.
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the system of government led by i4ao Tse-tung. Trained18

observers detected weakness and loss of support for Chiang.

They said the only way Chiang could succeed after the war

would be with United States help and support. Ro "China

expert" disagreed with this conclusion no matter how

simplified his view of Chinese Communism. The issue was19

how best to help Chiang to the detriment of the Japanese,
The Japanese offensive continued to make progress at will
against Kuomintang troops through the spring of 1905, and

continued to fail against the Liberated Areas of the Com-

munists.

That the issue was resolved in terms and by methods

outlined by Hurley based upon superficial and arbitrary
observation and contrary to the consensus formed by all
observers on the scene resulted from conditions obtaining
around Roosevelt. The various artifices and devices of

subterfuge and delay utilized by Chiang, plus the presence
of Hurley, unequivocally committed the United States to
Chiang. Hurley admitted later that Roosevelt had sent him

to find a possible substitute for Chiang. Roosevelt
instructed Hurley to consult with Stilwell and determine
whether Chiang was a correct "selection of the man to whom

we will give our support, both military and materiel, in

18oh oha 1t * Roo e 1*, RePte h 21, 19th, ~po 1

19Hearin ss State De artment Em lo ee Lo alt
evaluated by some as mere tools of Stalin's Russia.
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China." Stilwell suggested General Li Tsung-jen as a

likely substitute for Chiang. Hurley dismissed the
21suggestion.

After his initial gracious consent to appoint Stilwell
the Generalissimo became evasive and began his character-
istic dickering and delaying. Hurley became discouraged22

and considered returning home. Stilwell asked him to

remain. Clarence E. Gauss, Ambassador to China, claimed23

it was not a question of good faith, Chiang just could
24neither make correct decisions nor implement them. Some

pressure had to be applied. John S. Service claimed that
token support for Nao would result in manifold benefits in

the war against Japan, as well as, a strong inducement to
make Chiang realize that he had to change his government.

Hurley at first agreed. This issue loomed large during25

the winter of 1944-45 in Chungking.

20U,S. Congress, Senate, Joint Committee of Armed
Services and Foreign Relations, Nilitar Situation in the
Far East Hearin s, 82d Cong., 1st sess., 1951. Herein-
after referred to as Hearin s: Militar Situation in the
Far East), p. 2920.

21Ibid., p. 2921.
22Stilwell Pa ers, p, 260.
23Memorandum, Vincent to Grew, of conversation with

Nelson, October 2, 1944. Forei Relations,~l 44, YI,
259-60.

24Gauss to Hull, September 28 '944, Forei Relations,
19944 VI, 257.

25Memorandum Service to Nr. W. Walton Butterworth,
Director of the Office of Far Eastern Affairs, October 19,
1949, Forei Relations, 1944, VI, 714.



33

Gauss approached Chiang on the coalition matter just
before Hurley arrived in China, At the iniative of Roose-

velt and Hull, Gauss commenced active liason to 'bring about
a fair deal between Chiang and the Communists so that both
sides could live together, Chiang was advised that "a

spirit of tolerance and good will of give and take twasj

essential in achieving unity," Roosevelt and Hull„26

instructed Gauss to encourage Chiang to cooperate with
"Chinese of every shade of political .thinking." ThisII 2

view had Chiang's concurrence from the time of the Cairo
Conference. Of course, the United States was to assure28

respect by the Soviet Union for the frontier in Idanchuria
and the British were to stay out of Hong Kong, Shanghai,
and Canton. 29

Gauss and George Atcheson, Counselor of the Embassy in
China, called on Chiang September 15, with directions from

the President and Hull to effect some sort of war council
as a first step to unification. Chiang's response was so30

26Hull to Gauss, September 9, 1944, Forei
~1 44, VI, 568.

2~Ibid.
28Roosevelt, As He Saw It, p. 164.

9Ibid.
30Gauss to Hull, September 16, 1944, Forei

~1 44, VI, 5?4.

Realtions,

Relations,



vague and qualified that Gauss gave up the effort and left
the issue up to Hurley.

On the same day, September 15, at the Octagon Confer-
ence in Quebec, Roosevelt made the military decision which
removed China completely from consideration in any American
military effort against Japan. MacArthur and Admiral31

Nimitz held the mandate for victory without reference to
Stilwell or Chiang, In a matter of hours after Nimitz made

the necessary ships available to MacArthur, the Combined

Chiefs of Staff on September 16 moved the date f'r the
landing on Leyte up two months, to October 20. 32

Another decision by the Combined Chiefs of Staff to
commence an extended effort over land, sea and air to open
the Burma Road by early 1905 came virtually simultaneous
with receipt of a Stilwell message informing them that
Chiang was threatening to pull back his forces from the
Salween front in Burma. Chiang's threat to withdraw the
Yunnan armies across the Salween would ruin the possibility
of driving a road through to China, Stilwell acknowledged
the crises in quick succession. Stilwell told Marshall
that the Chiang plan of defense was stupid. Chiang wanted

Matloff, Strate ic Plannin for Coalition Warfare~lit -44, p. pig.
3 Ibid,

Feis, The China Tan le, p. 187,
g4,



to hold on until the Americans could get a decision in the
Pacific, trading "space for time,"

The President reacted immediately. On September 16

he sent a strongly worded message to Chiang. Apologists
later gave tremendous significance to this message. It was

a reproving message that called upon Chiang to "reinforce
your Salween armies immediately and press their offensive,
while at once placing General Stilwell in unrestricted
command of all your forces," Later, Hurley would claim„36

that delivery of'he message upset all his plans,
On September 23 Stilwell decided to go to Yenan, and

he revealed his plan for arming the Communists to Hurley.
Hurley showed the plan to Chiang. On September 25 Chiang38

asked that Stilwell be recalled. Hurley helped write the
message to Roosevelt for Chiang. Although briefed by
the War Department, Hurley was apparently unaware that
Stilwell had begun his Burma campaign in compliance with
orders from Southeast Asia Command, based on directives of
the Combined Chiefs of Staff, approved by the President and

263 'bid~ 9 p a

Roosevelt36
Relations 1 44,

Press, 19 3 PP ~

to Ohio 6, H Pt h*r 16, 1994. ~yo
VI, 157-58; See also Tang Tsou, America'

1 41- 0 (Chicagop University of Chicago
11 -15.

Feis, The China Tan ley p. 190'8

Htilw 11 t H rl y, 9 pt h r 23, 1949. ~wr'ilitarSituation in the Far East, pp. 2872-73.

Hearin ss Militar Situation in the Far East, p. 2869.
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the Prime Iifinister. Chiang requested Stilwell's relief4O

because of'is Burma campaign and Hurley supported Chiang's
41position.

The President expressed his surprise at Chiang's
reversal of'is agreement to appoint Stilwell and said
that, since the situation in China had so deteriorated, he

no longer felt inclined to assume the responsibility
involved in placing an American of'ficer in command of the
ground forces in China. Roosevelt agreed to relieve Stil-
well of his appointment as Chief of Staff to Chiang and of
his responsibility for Lend-Lease matters. Roosevelt
proposed that Stilwell should continue to have direct
command under the Generalissimo, of Chinese forces in Burma

and the Yunnan armies. 42

Chiang consulted other sources in Washington. These

sources provided interesting information. Soong told
Hurley on October 1, 1944, thatc

Dr. Kung stated that Harry Hopkins had told him at adinner party that the President had received theGeneralissimo's Aide-Memoire . . . and that since itconcerned the sovereign right of China, the Presidentintended to comply with the Generalissimo's request

4ORomanus and Sunderland, Stilwell's Command Problems,pp. 418, 468-69, When Hurley called on Nao in November heblamed the East China loss on Stilwell, Forei Relations,
~1 44, VI, 685

'hiang to Roosevelt, September 25, 1944, Chiang toRoosevelt, October 9, 1944, Hearingsc I5Iilitar Situationin the Far East, pp. 2869-71,~4-76.
42R* s 1* *s Shi RR 9 t*h 5, 19hh. R~
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for the recall of General Stj.lwell and his replacement
by another American officer.4

The next da;y Chiang declared publicly that Stilwell "must

go ~

Chiang's policy became United States policy. Nany

historians later interpreted Chiang's desires as United
States policy. A corollary to this interpretation was the
revelation of Russian complicity as the reason for failure
of alleged United States policy in China, The source for4,5

the theories was Chiang Kai-shek.
Hurley never deviated in his commitment to Chiang even

at the expense of Stilwell. A second Aide-Memoire, which
requested Stilwell's unequivocable recall, included Hurley's
comments~

In studying the situation here I am convinced thatthere is no Chinese leader available who offers asgood a basis of'ooperation with you as Chiang Kai-shek. There is no other Chinese known to me whopossesses as many of the elements of leadership asChiang Kai-shek. Chiang Kai-shek and Stilwell arefundamentally incompatible. Today you are confronted
by a choice between Chiang Kai-shek and Stilwell.There is no other issue between you and ChiangKai-shek. Chiang Kai-shek has agreed to every request,every suggestj.on made by you except the Stilwellappointment.4'o

lgSoong to Hurley, Romanus and Sunderland, Stilwell'sMission to China, p, 456.
44Nemo arne m by Gauss, Ootob r 1, 1940, ~yor 1

Feist The China Tan e.
46Hurl y to Ro elt, Oo*ober 10, 1900., ~y



Stilwell saw this message.

On October 13 Hurley, unable *o sleep, arose at 2:
o'lock in the morning and sent the final
Roosevelti

to

The Generalissimo's prestige has suffered because ofhis reverses in East China. Relying on a cable fromDr. Kung in Washington he believed his action had yourapproval when he made public his refusal to appointStilwell, If you force him publicly to back down hisusefulness will be diminished if not destroyed . . . Irespectfully recommend that you relieve GeneralStilwell and appoint another American General to
command all thy land and air forces in China under theGeneralissimo.

Hurley postulated October 10 that there was no other leader
except Chiang. On October 13 Stilwell had to go or Chiang
would be inef'fective. Again Roosevelt decided United
States policy in accordance with the concept that Chiang's
morale and prestige would suffer if Stilwell were not
removed.

Roosevelt recalled Stilwell, but 5'Iarshall reorganized
the entire Asian Theater. A division between the China

4,7Lohbeck, Patrick J. Hurley, pp. 300-03. There islittle question that Stilwell never saw the message ofOctober 13. Admiral Miles himself encoded the message andonly two people knew about it, Hurley was angry when thefact that Stilwell 'was leaving leaked. Hurley himself saidonly two Navy men knew about the message. Nilton E. Miles,Vice Admiral, USN A Different Kind of Wars The little-known ster of'he combined errilla forces created inChina b the U.S. Nav and the Chinese durin World War II.Garden City& Doubleday and Company, Inc., 19 7 , p. 33This use of Naval transmission services will create exten-sive problems for historians. Because of code compromisesparaphrases were necessary. Crucial messages sent inOctober and November, 1945, are entered in the JointHearings under date of'anuary 31, 1905, because of codeconsiderations. Hearin si 7Iilitar Situation in the FarEast, p. 3669, Hurley relied heavily upon the fact thatthese messages could not be made available for security



Theater and the Burma-India Theater explicitly allowed
Stilwell's relief to serve only as Chief of Staff to

48Chiang. Nothing more was expected of the China Theater.
On October 18 Roosevelt recalled Stilwell. On October 21

Gauss said he was going to resign, 4.9

Stilwell abandoned China in haste. By November 2,
1944, he was in Washington, D. C. He was placed under
virtual house arrest. Even after Stilwell emerged from50

seclusion, he spoke no word about China. His story was not
published until 1948, and the publication coincided with
two major events; Truman's unexpected victory in the 1948

Presidential election and the complete rout of Chiang's
American supported forces in China.

The Japanese offensive in China led to Stilwell's
recall. All the effort directed toward the preparation of
China as a staging area for the coming assault on the
Japanese home islands came to nothing. Indeed, the
strategy had failed for now China seemed a huge bastion of
Japanese power and an endless land war with Japan seemed

inevitable, Stilwell had tried to introduce some sort of
order into Chiang's armies. He had watched as the hest
troops marched off to contain the Communist forces rather

48Joint Chiefs of Staff'o Wedemeyer and Sultan,October 20, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44, Vi, 178-79.
Q9Stilwell Pa ers, pp. 269-70.
50Ibid.y p. 274 .



than fight the Japanese. American supplies, flown in at
such great expense over the "Hump" were wasted and openly
sold to profiteers. Now many of'hose supplies were being
given up without a fight by the Kuomintang forces. to
Stilwell it was clear that Chinese resistance depended on
cooperation with the Communists. More than that the war
effort to be effective must be taken from corrupt Kuomin-

tang officials and generals, His relief meant that victory
against Japan would not depend upon China, but it left
unresolved the problem of'omestic opposition to Chiang.



CHAPTER III

IWGOTIATIONS WITH IBAO

Having failed utterly in his primary mission, Hurley
directed his talents toward the resolution of China's most
pressing problem; the Chinese Communists. Before Stilwell
left China he confided to his diary the following~

Hurley convinced that he has failed and accepts defeat
on the command question, Then he gets excited aboutthe Communists, seeing a chance tolmake a noise by'unifying'he Chinese war effort,

One oi'he conditions which the Generalissimo agreed to in
connection with the removal of General Stilwell was that he

would undertake to reach an agreement with the Communists. 2

The China tangle should have unraveled after Stilwell
departed, according to Hurley's theory.

The United States efforts directed toward unification
began with Roosevelt in 1903. Gauss and Hull initiated
efforts along these lines prior to Hurley's arrival in
China. Now, Hurley decided that he could succeed where
the others had failed. Factors demanding some resolution
of the Chinese Communist problem were& (I) The Communists

1Stilwell Pa ers& p. 271.
2Davies, Senior political advisor to Stilwell, toVincent, Chief of division of Chinese Affairs, November 14,1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 693, This crucial letterexists today only in edited form.



possessed a base near Japan's largest military concentra-
tion and second largest industrial base, Nanchuria; (2) The

Communists represented a rich intelligence source; (g) The

Communists encompassed a disciplined aggressive anti-
Japanese regiment (4) The Communists represented the greatest
single threat to the Chiang Kai-shek government and acted
as a check upon the increase of Chiang's power; (5) The

Communists were strongest in the area where Russia would

attack when she entered the war against Japan; (6) Americans
would be welcomed by the Communists.

The Kuomintang blockade permitted no arms, ammunition,
food or medicine into the Communist area of north central
Shensi province with its capital of Yenan about 400 miles
north of Chungking. During the Wallace visit Chiang

granted permission for a UPS. Army Observer Group to visit
Yenan, The Group under the command of Colonel David DE

Barrett departed Chungking July 22, 1904. John S. Service
accompanied the Group as political observer. Stilwell's
last official act was to recall Service from Yenan and
order as his replacement, John P, Davies and Raymond

Ludden, two other Foreign Service Officers in China.
Speculation would lead to the conclusion that Stilwell
expected to expose the China situation with Service's
assistance. Roosevelt isolated Stilwell, but Service cir-

Ballantine, Deputy Director of the Office of Far
Ea * rn Af'f i *0 Si **ini, J n ry 17, 19llll, ~Prei



culated his story about Mao at the highest levels in
Washington. During his one day in Chungking enroute to
Washington, Service briefed Hurley October 23, 1944,
stressing the confidence and feeling of strength displayed
by the Chinese Communists and their determination to
receive a share of arms. Hurley told Service repeatedly
that he was going to make sure the Communists received
arms.

Service carried with him a report dated October 10,
1944. Hurley later cited this report as the primary cause
for the defeat of his policy in China, The report had
three main points~ (1) the Chinese war effort and Chinese
resistance was not entirely dependent upon Chiang, (2) the
United States could make no progress in bargaining with
Chiang as long as he was met on his own terms and treated
as the only representative of China, (3) that Chiang, in
pressing for the recall of Stilwell, was up to his old
tricks of beclouding the issue and introducing irrelevant
matters. The veracity of the report remained unchallenged.

4.Service to W. Walton Butterworth, Director of Officeof Far Eastern Affairs, October 19, 1949, Forei Relations,
~1 44, VI 714'earin s~ State De artment Em lo ee

George Atcheson, Char 5 ad interim to Hull, November22& 1944, Forei Relations 1 , VI, 708-11. (Suben-closure) Memorandum No. Oi by Service dated October 10,1944. Omitted is the following paragraphs "Finally, weneed feel no ties of gratitude to Chiang, The men he haskept around him have proved selfish and corrupt, incapableand obstructive. Chiang's own dealings with us have beenan opportunist combination of extravagant demands and



Service recommended a visit by Hurley to Yenan. He thought
such a visit might cause Chiang to make concessions.
Unfortunately Hurley gave a copy of this report to T. V,

6Soong. The Embassy, as well as Service, cautioned Hurley
not to go beyond what Chiang would accept in negotiations
with the Communists.

Hurley remained buoyant and optimistic during October.
He said the Communist military forces could be united with
the National Army and a united military force would be
directed against Japan. Chiang encouraged Hurley to think
that this would happen, Chiang also encouraged Roosevelt
to think in terms of the anticipated unification of the

unfilled promises, wheedling and bargaining, bluff andblackmail. Chiang did not resist Japan until forced by hisown people. He has fought only passively--not daring tomobilize his own people, He has sought to have us savehim--so that he can coniinue his conquest of his owncountry. In the process, he has "worked" us for all we areworth. We seem to forget that Chiang is an Oriental; thathis background and vision are limited; that his position isbuilt on skill as an extremely adroit political manipulatorand a stubborn, shrewd bargainer& that he mistakes kindnessand flattery for weakness; and that he listens to his owninstrument of force, rather than reason." N ~ A. file893,00/11-2244. Augustus S. Chase in Division of ChineseAffairs commentedt "While most competent observers wouldprobably concur in many of his conclusions
memorandum dated December 13, 1944, N. A. File 893,00/11-2244. The conclusions advanced by Service in thisreport have stood the test of time,

6 Service to Butterworth, Director of the Office of FarEastern Af'fairs, October 19, 1949, Forei Relations 1 44,VI, 713.
7Document Prepared in the Embassy in China, October 17,1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI& 650,
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Chinese military forces. Chiang told Roosevelt that all8

problems had been solved and "a period of Sino-American
collaboration more understanding, more intimate, and more
fruitful than ever before will be inaugurated." In a
personal message to Roosevelt he lauded Hurley in glowing
terms and proposedi

To increase the Communist troops in the regular forcesof the National Army, and this now constitutes one ofthe most vital requisites in our war against Japan.General Hurley has my complete confidence. Because ofhis rare knowledge of human nature, and his approachto the problems, he seems to get on well with
Communist leaders

Chiang writing to Roosevelt seemed clear enough, however,
Chiang's diary entry for October 21, 1944, revealed an
opposite thought. Chiang thought the Chinese Communist

Party was weak and that it could be easily defeated. 11

Chiang said he would resolve the Communist dilemma peace-
fully while in reality he had no such intention. Vital to
Chiang's plans was United States support, and he proceeded
to assure that support.

8
H rl*y to Root volt, 0 t 4 r Rl, 1944, ~ro

'

9Ibid.
10Chiang to Roosevelt& undated, Forei Relations,

~1 GER VI, 170. Lohbeck, Patrick J. Hurle , p. 309,Identified in footnote, p. 9 . In the Hurley version theword "incorporate" is substituted for "increase" withregard to communist inclusion in the government and it isdated October 25, 1944.
11Quoted in Tsou, America's Failure in China 1 41-

1990, p, 169. Soon Hurley thought the Communists were weak.



Ostensibly, Chiang agreed to come to terms with the

Communists. With this in mind, Hurley first drafted a

basis of agreement on October 28. Chiang's negotiators12

corrected this basis for agreement on November 7. Hurley13

went to Yenan completely unannounced November 7, 1944. The

visit was for the purpose of finding a basis of agreement

between the National Government and the Communist Party for
14the unification of all military forces in China. Upon

disembarking from his plane Hurley startled Mao with the

loud and piercing "Commanche war cry-with which he had

delighted the Russian soldiers at Stalingrad." Mao's„15

reaction remained unrecorded.

On November 8 Hurley met with Mao for five

bourse'ao
told Hurley that there was great danger threatening

Chiang's military,- political, financial and economic

control. Mao explained at length that delay in reorgani-

sation would work to Chiang's disadvantage. If the United

States really wanted to fight Japan and promote unity then

the corrupt government apparatus should be adjusted, Mao

12Draft, "Basis for Agreement" October 28, 1944 by
Hurley, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 659.

13Revised Draft, "Basis for Agreement" November 7,
1944, by Wang Shih-chieh and General Chang Chih-chung,
Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 666.

14Hurley to Roosevelt, November 7, Forei Relations,
~I 44, VI, 666-67.

15-sohbeck, Patrick J. Hurle , p, 312, Though the
origin of Mao's term "Paper Tiger" remains obscure, Mao
soon began referring to Hurley as a "Paper Tiger."



did not see any special reason to reorganize his troops
because they fought the Japanese. Hurley asked what Mao

wanted specifically, Mao repeated to Hurley the views of

Roosevelt and Churchill. He claimed that if there was no

democracy there could be no unity in China. 16

Hurley and Mao signed an agreement November 10. The17

agreement embodied all of Hurley's demands and called for
unification, a government of the people, for the people,
and by the people, one national government and recognition
for all anti-Japanese parties. Point two proved to be most

importanti

The present National Government is to be reorganized
into a Coalition National Government embracing
representatives of all anti-Japanese parties and non-
partisan, political bodies. A new democratic policy
providing for reforms in military, political, economic
and cultural affairs shall be promulgated and made
effective. At the same time the National Military
Council is to be reorganized into the United National
Military Council consigting of representatives of all
anti-Japanese armies.lo

Mao told Roosevelt thati
The spirit of this agreement is what we of the Chinese
Communist Party and the Chinese people have beenstriving for in the anti-Japanese united front during
the past eight years. It had always been our desire
to reach an agreement with President Chiang Kai-shek,
which will promote the welfare of the Chinese people.
Through the good offices of General Hurley we have
suddenly seen hope of realization . . . . The Central
Committee of our Party has unanimously accepted the

16Memorandum of conversation Mao and Hurley, November
8, 1944. Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 678-87.

17
M t Ro 1t, N +b 10, 1944.~Fi

18Agreement Between the National Government of China,
The Kuomintang of China and the Communist Party of China,Forei Relations, 1 44, VI, 687-88.
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whole text of'his proposed agreement and is preparedto fully support and make it effective, The CentralCommittee of our Party has authorized me to sign thisagreement, witnessed by General Hurley.&9
This agreement received the highest support. Roosevelt
told h'lao that for the defeat of Japanese aggression, he was
willing to cooperate with all anti-Japanese forces in
China. United States aid to the Chinese Communists

20

seemed assured and Hurley was aware of'his commitment.
Before Hurley left Yenan, Mao authorized him to say to
Chiang Kai-shek that the Communists pledged themselves to
support and sustain his leadership. 21

When Hurley returned to Chungking on November 11, he
turned over a copy of the signed agreement to T. V. Soong.
Soon after, Soong called on Hurley and said, "You have been
sold a bill of goods by the Communists. The National
Government will never grant what the Communists have
requested." The National Government then "finally and

22

definitely declined the Communist offer as settlement."
Chiang agreed that the settlement Hurley had obtained from
the Communists would be accepted as a settlement in

19
M ** ~ *o 1t, N b 10, 1944, ~F

20Roosevelt to Mao, not available, referred to in Maoto Hurley, December 16, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI,F41 ~

21Hurley to Stettinius, January 31, 1945, Hearin scState De artment Em lo ee Lo alt Investi ation, pp. 20 7-88,
22Ibid., p. 2088.



Washington or London, but owing to peculiar Chinese

psychology it would mean the total defeat for him and his
23party.

Gauss, still Ambassador until November 13, in a letter
to the Secretary of State advised that it "is not to be

expected that Chiang or Kuomintang diehards will accept

document . . . which would actually depose the
„24Kuomintang as the governing-party of'hina."

Chiang Kai-shek told Hurley that the agreement would

give the Communists control of the Government. Hurley25

believed the'greement would strengthen the Government both

militarily and politically. Hurley pointed out to Chiang

that Mao had signed an agreement to put his army under the

coalition government. All arguments by Hurley and Chou-

En-lai failed to'nfluence Chiang. 26

Hurley informed Roosevelt November 16, of the agreement

3Ibid.
24Gauss to Hull, November 13, 1944. Forei Relations,

~1 44 VI ~ 690-91, John S. Service informed Acting Secre-
tary of State Stettinius on October 30 of Gauss's decision
to resign. The report was published October 31, 1944;
New York Times'ctober 31, 1944, p. 1. George Atcheson,
Jr., served as Charg5 d'affairs ad interim at Chungking
November 13-December 14, 1944. On December 14, 1944,
Hurley became Ambassador designate to China. He presented
his credentials to Chiang January 8, 1945 still in the
uniform of a Major General. Romanus and Sunderland, Time
Runs Out in CBI, p. 350.

25.-li rl y t* ROD 1t No b 16, 1944. P~r

26Hearings~ Milita Situation in the Far East,
p ~ 3671 '
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with li'lao, commenting, "I know that it will be apparent to

you that nearly all of the basic principles recited in the

proposed agreement are ours." He also stated that I'dao

agreed to recognize Chiang as President of the Republic.
All principals to the agreement, Hurley, I/lao and Chiang

agreed that secrecy was a vital element until final agree-
ment could be reached. As with the Stilwell case, Hurley

was confident that Chiang sincerely desired settlement.
Hurley's position appeared crucial to the negotiations, 27

He had in effect created a vacumn, therefore Roosevelt

offered to appoint Hurley as Ambassador to China and Hurley

immediately accepted. 28

To Davies, Hurley confided that he felt the Communist

proposals eminently fair and "that if there is a breakdown

in the parleys it will be the fault of the Government and

not the Communists." Davies reported further that Hurley

suspected the men around Chiang to be sabotaging Hurley's
efforts and, additionally, that the British were anti-
pathetic to bringing the opposing sides together in China. 29

A crucial factor in all of this was communications. Hurley

27Hrlyt*R*o*vlt, Nv 4 16,1944 ~yo

28Roo e elt to H rley, No e 4 r 17, 1944. ~yo

29Davies to
in edited form.

Vi o t, No emte 14, 1944, ~F* i
VI, 693. This vital letter remains only



communicated directly with President Roosevelt through
military channels without informing the State Department.
Davies'eports, on the other hand, did not arrive in
Washington until weeks later and remained unavailable in
their entirety. 30

Chiang's government made a counter-proposal on

November 17. T. V. Soong gave the proposal to Hurley with
a request that it be presented to the Communists as General
Hurley's basis f'r settlement. The Government proposed31

unification, a government of the people, for the people and

by the people and called upon the Communists to give over
control of'll their troops to the National Government. 32

Hurley replied publicly "that there was not one word of the
counter-proposal that I considered mine, and that I had not
presented it as my idea of'n equitable compromise."

Hurley reported, "the three-point proposal was not, of'ourse,acceptable to the Communists," The Government„30

proposal was a meaningless device and Hurley recognised it
as such. But Hurley did not blame Chiang.

Forei30 Relations 1 40, VI, 307, 650-754,
31Ibid., n. 703.

Second Counterdraft b Chinese Government Represent-
32

ative, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 703-04.
33Hurley to Stettinius, January 31, 1945, Hearin s:State De artment Em lo ee Lo alt Investi ation . 20 9.Hurley made no report of his negotiations with Mao to theState Department until this date.

Ibid.



At the same time Hurley made his optimistic report to

Roosevelt, he expressed some pessimism privately, On

h'ovember 15 Hurley informed Secretary of the Treasury,
Morgenthau that he consideredc

The situation in Chungking distressing, the government'traditionalist'--confident that no matter what the
Japanese did, they would be absorbed . . . most of theofficials at Chungking were interested only in
preserving their own position. They regarded the
American taxpayer as "a sucker" who they could exploit
indefinitely . . . they were really fascists, in favor
of dictatorship, and opposed to the concessions
necessary for the achievement of national unity. The
Communists . . . genuinely wanted multiparty govern-
ment . . . The Chinese Communists had done a better
job of organizing for war than had the subordinates
of Chiang Kai-shek . . . The Communists favored the
unification of China and of the Chinese army, and
that on the whole they 'offered a fine, liberalprogram.'he Kuomintang, Hurley said& was resisting
Communist overtures largely because of T. V. Soong,
whom Hurley considered a 'crook,'he achievement of
unity in China would be a difficult task, but Hurley
rejoiced in believing that he had brought the
Communists to the American side. He also took heart
from Roosevelt's recall of General Stilwell and
Ambassador Gauss . . . .3o

Hurley remained ambivalent and confused, but his purge
of Americans continued unabated. Gradually Hurley added to
his policy an important corollary which became significant
in later years. Though it remained unclear exactly when

this corollary developed, Hurley himself said this about

Then the President had agreed with me in a decision
which I made; and, understand, these policies are

35Hrlyt Ch E-ra',D h 11, 194h,~ro

John Norton Blum, From the Mor enthau Diaries Years36

f W 41 1 0 . (Boston& Houghton Nifflin Company,



are generated--they are evolved--as you go along, andone of the policies evolved by me and reported was notto arm the Communists with lend-lease supplies unlessand until they acknowledged the sovereignty and placedthemselves und.er the command of our ally, the Republicof China.37

Nao, of course, had already agreed to these conditions and
Hurley and Roosevelt knew that Nao had agreed.

In China Hurley remained ambivalent. His accounts of
his instructions relayed to subordinates changed from week

to week. Gradually Hurley adopted the idea of enlisting
Soviet influence on the side of'hiang before internal
rapproachment could be achieved. Hurley requested Roose-
velt to ask Stalin to make his peace with Chiang without
reference to Nao. The request represented a reversal of

38

procedure. Previously, Roosevelt thought the Chinese
Communist problem would have to be resolved before Stalin's
support for Chiang could be arranged. Firm in his convic-
tim that the Russian Government did not recognize the
Chinese Communist Party as Communists at all, Hurley
reported that Chiang also believed that ; "(1) Russia is
not supporting the Communist Party in China. (2) Russia
does not want dissension or civil war in China and (3)
Russia desires more harmonious relations with China."

Hearin si Nilitar Situation in the Far East,p. 2899.
38Feis, The China Tan e, p. 255.

H rley *o St **i, D mb r 24, 1944, ~FRelations, 1944, VI, 747 '



Unfortunately, Chiang concluded that without Russian sup-
port, Nao would surely lose a civil war. Unfortunately for
the United States, Hurley agreed with Chiang. Unfortunately,
later leaders in the United States agreed with Hurley.

Regardless of what Hurley reported the situation in
China deteriorated. Chiang's forces were useless. The
Japanese were threatening Kunming, the Air Transport
Command staging area in China. All the Chinese divisions
melted away in front of the Japanese advance. By December,
Wedemeyer, Stilwell's relief, realized that the only forces
capable of saving Chungking and Kunming were the Stilwell
trained Chinese divisions in Burma, There was still a

00

possibility that the Communists might be enlisted to help
the war effort. Efforts by Wedemeyer directed toward a
Communist war effort assisted by the United States became
tangled with Hurley's efforts at unification.

On December 8, Colonel Barrett, head of the mission in
Yenan had held a long interview with Nao Tse-tung, Mao

expressed dismay at the attitude of the United States~
It does not seem fair to us that we should be asked tosacrifice so much while the Generalissimo, who is inlarge measure responsible for the present crisis, isasked to sacrifice so little . . . The whole thing isblocked by the Generalissimo . . . The United Statesbelieves that Chiang Kai-shek must be retained inpower at all costs . ~ , We have no objection to sucha policy. As long as he fights Japan, we areperfectly willing for the Generalissimo to remain asthe leader. We are not, however, going to give up our

00Romanus and Sunderland, Time Runs Out in CBI& pp.150 & 221.



right of self-preservation for one seat on the National
Military Council... As Chiang Kai-shek has refused
to agree to a coalition government and we are deter-
mined not to give in . . . Our present stand closes
the door to negotiations, We have closed the door,
but we /eave the window open. The five points are the
window.~i

The fundamental difficulty was the unwillingness of

the Kuomintang to forsake the one-party rule. Chiang was42

the Government. Mao represented only a "party." The

United States could not deal with such a "party." That

"party" had to enter the Government. Mao was willing.
Chiang refused to allow the Communists or any other elements

into the government with the Kuomintang. Mao was forth-
right in discussion; "We are not like Chiang Kai-shek. No

nation needs to prop us up. We can stand erect and walk on

our own feet like free men." Mao continued, "If General

Hurley does not understand this now, he never will and it
would be useless . . . to say all these things over again."
Mao's threat to publish the "f'ive points" brought a quick

response from Hurley. Hurley requested that Mao not

publish the "five points" because negotiations had not been

concluded'ao warned that Hurley's policy would lead to4.3

41Colonel David D. Barrett to Wedemeyer, December 10,
1944' (Yenan) Forei Relations 1 44P VI ~ 727 33 The
State Department did not know about the five points until
January 31, 1945. Then Hurley asked the State Department
to maintain secrecy. Hearin st State De artment Em lo ee
Lo alt Investi ation, p. 20 7.

42Oh E-L t H 1y,Dcmhr16, 19CC,~P*

Oho Eh-L 1 to H rl y, D c 'C r 16, 19th, P~L.
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certain civil war in China. Chinese historians have44

accused Hurley of bad faith, In retrospect, the Communist

charge appeared valid.
The War Department, concerned with the war against

Japan, began plans f'r arming the Chinese Communists with
or without agreement between the two contending parties
prior to Stilwell's departure. The Army had at least three
plans to arm the Communists. Hurley was aware of at least
one of these plans. The plan was modest, involving 7,500
United States airborne troops to land in Communist terri-
tory and disrupt the Japanese line of communications,
General NcClure, Wedemeyer's Chief of Staff, briefed
General Chen Cheng, new Chinese Ninister of War and T. V.

Soong of the plan on December 19. 46

Hurley wanted to go home to report to Roosevelt,
Stettinius and Stimson as well as attend to some personal
matters. A special plane landed at Chungking on December

1'7, to take Hurley to Washington, but Hurley postponed the
trip. He gave as one of'is reasons, lack of agreement

47

44Mao Tse-tung. "The Hurley-Chiang Duet is a Wash-out," and "On Danger of the Hurley Policy." Selected Works.Vol. IV. (New York'nternational Publishers, 195p. 267.
45 eCh'en, Nao and the Chinese Revolution, p. 267,
46Memorandum of conversation Generals Ch'en and NcClurg

December 19, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44, VI, 741-43;
Romanus and Sunderland, Time Runs Out in CBI, p. 252.

47
H rl y * S* t*'n', D *mb r 17, 1944. ~r*i



between Communist troop leaders and the Rational Govern-
ment. On December 20 the new Secretary of'tate,48

Stettinius, asked Hurley to submit by telegraph the report
he had intended to make in person. Hurley revealed the@9

extent to which the Department of State was in the darki
About that time Edward R. Stettinius was appointedSecretary of'tate. Now I knew Stettinius weight andStettinius sent me a cable, a query in which he asked
me to please tell him--now you see, I have the militaryreporting directly to the President. Now I amAmbassador, and Stettinius as my chief'aid: 'What isyour directive? What are you doing in China? Wouldyou mind giving me a statement?'5

The only one that knew what was happening in China was
Hurley. Having received the query from the new Secretary
of State, Hurley appealed to Nao one more time. Hurley
sent a message to Mao9 "If General Chou Zn-lai will come

to Chungking again I believe that chances of success along
the general lines of'our proposals are brighter than ever
before." According to Nao, Chou was too busy to leave

ei 51

Yensn. The same day Hurley received the answer from Mao,
52

he described his mission to the Secretary of State as

Ibid.
4.9Ht t*ini to Hurl y, D terna r 20, 1944. ~Fr

~Hin s M'1 *ar ait a* o 'n th la E t,
50

p 2907.

Hurley to Nao Tse-tung and Chou En-lai, December 20,
51

1944, Farci Relations 1 04, Vl, 744,
52

M o Fs -*uns *o Hurley, D mh 24, 1944. ~yore'



follows&

(1) To prevent the collapse of the National Govern-
ment. (2) To sustain Chiang Kai-shek as President.
(3) To harmonize relations between the Generalissimo
and the American Commander. (0) To promote productionof war supplies in China and prevent economic collapse
and (5) to unify all the military forces of China forthe purpose of defeating Japan.S~

Zn these words on Christmas Eve, 1944, Hurley outlined
United States policy toward China. Operating in a vacuum

without guidance or control, Hurley defined a United States
policy which became virtually sacrosanct. Gradually Hurley
became aware that his oversimplistic approach to Chinese

affairs was dangerous. He remained optimistic about
reunification, but by December 1944, he raised the issues
of imperialism and other sources of trouble with Stett-
inius. Hurley was as positive of unification in November

as he had been that Stilwell was going to be appointed by

Chiang in September. By December, 1904 Hurley began to
have doubts.

Davies, who had relieved Service in Yenan in October
1944, sent reports to Hopkins during November and December,
These reports were more sophisticated than those of Service,
but they were as damaging, if not more so, to the Chiang
regime and its chances. On December 12 Davies reported to
the White Houses "The negotiations looking to an agreement
between the Generalissimo and the Chinese Communists have

Hurl*2 tu Ht*tt'u, De b Hb, 1924, ~F*r
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failed," Davies anticipated "that the Generalissimo will
M 54

continue to refuse us permission to exploit militarily the
Chinese Communist position." Daives recommended "that we

unequivocally Qelg Chiang Kai-shek that we will work with
and, within our discretion, supply whatever Chinese forces
we believe can contribute most to the war against Japan."
Wedemeyer fired Davies at the insistence of Hurley
December 26. Hurley threatened his career and Davies
departed China before the end of'he year. 56

Chiang, Hurley thought, was being sabotaged by the men
around him. Hurley classed all arguments against the
unification of China as "stock arguments of the imperial-
ists and of all others who oppose the principles of the
Atlantic Charter." Hurley identified the British as

„58

obstructionists, and he said that the British Ambassador to
China, Sir Horace J. Seymour, had attempted to dissuade
Hurley from working to "bring the Government and the

M m rmccum by D i ~ D c mb r 12, 1992, ~For 1
54,

Harry L. Hopkins with copies to Hurley and Wedemeyer,
5Ibid.

56Albert C. Wedemeyer, Wedeme er Re orts, (New York:Henry Holt ard Company, 1958) 2 p. 319.
D i s t Vi c t. Ho mb r lb, 1999, ~yor i

58Hurl y * Ht tt'us, D* msb r 2C, 19bb, ~yo

declaration by President Roosevelt and British PrimeICinister Churchill on August 14, 1941 ~
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Communists together."
Hurley proceeded to immerse himself deeper into the

milieu of Chinese intrigue. Chiang's "Gestapo" chief, Tai
Li, who was supported by the Navy Group and Admiral Miles,

60told Chiang that the Army planned to arm the Communists.

Chiang confronted Hurley and Hurley concluded that Mao's

intransigence was caused by such knowledge. Hurley
reported to Roosevelt that his negotiations with the

61Communists had been compromised by the United States Army,

When General NcClure, Wedemeyer's Chief'f Staff, chided
Hurley for sending the telegram to Roosevelt, Hurley

„62roared; nYou pup, I'e hit men for less than that."
General Wedemeyer reluctantly relieved General NcCliure and

63assigned him to a position in the field. The chagrined
Wedemeyer Shen issued a directive which prohibited politi-
cal activity by personnel under his command. Every American
officer in China signed an oath to the effect that they
would not give assistance to any individual, to any
activity or any organization within the China Theatre,

t Device t Vincent, nevesen r lt, 19tt. ~p*rei

60Gauss to Hull, February 1, 1944, Forei Relations,~144 VI & 19,
61Romanus and Sunderland, Time Runs Out in CBI,250-54 '2

Wedemeyer, Wedeme er Re orts, pp. 306, 317.
63~ibid t p. 307.
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64.except Chiang Kai-shek,

Conversations between the National Government and the
Chinese Communist Party resumed January 24, 1945. In his
report of January 31, 1945, Hurley reported for the first
time to the State Department the agreement which Mao had
signed and Hurley had witnessed November 10, 1944. By

65

this time Hurley was fully committed to Chiang, He thought
the Communist party demands were justified, but "any aid
from the United States to the Chinese Communist Party must
go throuJ h the National Government." He further„66

explained;

On the other side of the ledger there is op33osition tothe unification of the military forces of China withinboth the Kuomintang and the Chinese Communist Party.
I1'lembers of the Chinese Communist Party oppose unifi-cation with the Chinese National Government on the
ground that the eovernment is incompetent, corrupt anddestructive of the welfare of China. The Kuomintangparty points to the fact that it began as the party of
Sun Yat-sen, the party of reformation in China, andhas brought China through a revolution and throughnearly 8 years of the war of'esistance. They believethemselves to have been successful. They believe thatthey have served China well and are naturallyreluctant to surrender their one-party control ofChina.
There is honest opposition among some of our ownmilitary on the ground that the Communist armed partyis stronger than the National Army and we should dealdirectly with the Communists by-passing the National
Government. This opposition is, in my opinion, basedon erroneous and unsound premises. In addition tothese factors, all of the representatives of the so-called imperialist colonial powers of southeast Asia

64Feisy The China Tan e, p. 266.
65

H rl y * Ht **1 ', Jar ry 31, 1995. ~H*r'tateDe artment Lo alt Investi ation, p. 2086,
66Ibid,, pp. 2087-89.
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are opposed to unification. The policy of theimperialist powers appears to be to keep China dividedagainst herself.
An appendix to this report added by the staff in Chungking
took issue with Hurley as follows~

There is no one on the staff who believes we shouldbypass the National Government in dealing with theCommunists. From a recent conversation with Nr.Service (who is not substantively a member of theEmbassy Staff') I am convinced that he does not thinkwe should bypass the )ational Government in dealingwith the Communists,

Unity of the military forces in China to assist in defeat-
ing Japan remained the issue as of January 1945. Soon,
Hurley would discover that Japan would be defeated without
reference to China.

On January 18,1945 John S. Service returned to
Chungking. Wedemeyer had specifically requested Service
when Hurley purged Davies ~ A couple of days later Hurley

69

called in Service and confronted him with his report of
October 10, 1944. Hurley informed Service that his policy
was to uphold Chiang Kai-shek and that Hurley would do all
of the policy recommending. 70

67Ibid., p. 2090'8

Ibid., pp. 2090-91, Written by Atcheson in cooper-ation and consultation with four other members of theEmbassy staff.
69Ibid.i p. 1973'0

Ibid., p. 2075. Later Hurley and others wouldinsist that Service had influenced Stilwell by this report;however, the report was delivered to Stilwell by Service inWashington after both had left China. Forei Relations
~1 44, YI, 713. Stilwell held these views long before herecieved this report. Stilwell Pa ers, pp. 205-08.
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Unfortunately, Service worked for Wedemeyer as Davies
had and Hurley knew this was true. At the request of
Nedemeyer, Service and Ludden prepared a report February 14,
1945, This report embodied recommendations for policy
changes in the Far Fast if the objective was defeat of
Japan in the shortest possible time with the least expendi-
ture of American lives. Political unity in China,
according to the report, would be impossible unless the
United States exerted considerable pressure upon the
Kuomintang Government. Diplomatic means to solve Kuomin-
tang-Communist differences had failed and; "at present
there exists in China a situation closely paralleling that
which existed in Yugoslavia prior to Prime llinister
Churchill'eclaration of support of Marshall Tito." No

arms to the Communists were needed, merely a statement by
Roosevelt, "would be so profound that the Generalissimo
would be forced to make concessions of power and permit
united-front coalition."II 71

Overwhelming evidence existed at all levels in Wash-
ington that pressure would have to be brought to bear on
Chiang if'esults were to be expected, 51eanwhile, Hurley
arrived at a different conclusion, Hurley told Chiang that
when the war was over his well-equipped divisions would

71Report February 14, 1945, U.S. Department of State,United States Relations with China, with S ecial Referenceto the Period 1 -1 . Washington, D. C., 1949)ipp. 575-76, (Hereinafter referred to as U.S, Relations'th Ch'na.)



have a walk-over if'e fought the Communists. The origin72

of such an idea could be found in the propaganda of the
Chinese Government. Gradually, the Government and Hurley
came to believe this propaganda, Hurley did not feel
concessions to the Communists would be necessary. Before
he departed from China he refused a request for a twenty
million dollar loan to Communist General Chu Teh because he

thought it would have defeated his policy. Policy, as74

far as Hurley was concerned, centered around post-war
unification rather than any effort against the Japanese,
This uniiication would require Nao's submission to Chiang's
terms.

Chiang's terms for unification became increasingly
difficult and ultimately proved impossible. Efforts at
unification ceased for six months. Chou En-lai left
Chungking for Yenan with new Government proposals on

February 15, 1945, These proposals were'1) the Commun-

ist troops should be placed under the National Military
Council, which the Communists regarded as tantamount to
handing them over to the Kuomintangi (2) The Kuomintang
insisted that one-party dictatorship would not be

72Hurley to Chiang, February 16, 1945, Romanus andSunderland, Time Runs Out in the CBI, p. 388n.

Ho, Chinese Chief of Staff, to Hearn, Stilwell'sChief of Staff, April 12, 1944, Forei Relations 1 44,Vl, 401-05.
74U.S. Relations with China, pp. 86-87.
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terminated. A proposed war cabinet would have no power f'r
final decisions of policy. The real issue, formation of a
government, remained unresolved, The Communists sponsored
a coalition government and the Kuomintang sponsored a
National Assembly. By 1950, advocates of coalition govern-
ment for China were condemned as Communists. The fact that
Hurley ardently supported this course in 1904 remained
obscure. The story usually began with General fi(arshall's
efforts to bring about unification in 1906. By that time
circumstances had changed and in the selective interpreta-
tions of the era, Hurley's role remained virtually ignored.

Hurley and Wedemeyer departed China for Washington
February 19, 1905. Wedemeyer carried Service's report and
Hurley had by now formulated his position, This position
he articulated very clearly&

The President and Generalissimo of the National
Government of China, known internationally as theRepublic of China fepresents China/ . . ~ The Commun-ist Party of China zs not a nation and, as far as I
know, no one has'ecognized it as a nation. It is oneof the political parties of China. The only differ-ence flem the ordinary political party is that it isarmed.75

Hurley liked this evaluation. He used the same terms in a
press conference April 2, and even as late as 1951 still
maintained this position publicly. Unfortunately, his
public position was not as clear in other matters,
According to Hurley, any recognition would destroy the

75H-Hurley to Chou En-lai, February 20, 1905, U,S.Relations with China, p. 577 ~
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possibility of unification in China. Any arming of the

Communists would destroy the possibility of unification.
This was now his policy. In Washington he transcended even

this grandiose scheme.



CHAPTER IV

LAST PHASES OF WORLD WAR II

After Hurley's assumption of'he Ambassadorship to
China in January 1945, he asked Roosevelt to resolve the
Chinese dilemma by arranging Russian support for Chiang
before resolution of the internal Chinese problem. At

Yalta, February 11, 19@5, Stalin formally agreed to enter
the war against Japan two or three months after the war in
Europe was terminated. Hurley met with Roosevelt March 8,

1

24 and April 2, 1905. A new approach to the Chinese

problem emerged after the meetings. Hurley decided to
enlist Stalin and Churchill on the side of Chiang in order
to exclude Mao from a leadership position in China. 2

Part of the Yalta Agreement provided for a pact of

1
U. S. Relations with China, pp, 113-10 ~ AGREEMENT

CONCERNING THE ENTRY OF THE SOVIET UNION INTO THE WAR
AGAINST JAPAN, Signed at Yalta February 11, 1905, releasedsimultaneously in London, Moscow, and Washington,
February 11, 1906.

2Hearingsi Militar Situation in the Far East, p. 2906.Mao's polemics date Hurley's speech of April 2, 19 5 as theturning point in relations between Yenan and Washington.
Mao Tse-tung& "Hurley, Chiang Kai-shek and the Reader'
Digest Are a Menace to World Peace," Quoted in Stuart R.Schram, The Political Thou t of'ao Tse-tun , (New York:Frederick A. Praeger, Publishers, 19 3 , pp. 276-79.
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friendship and alliance between the USSR and China, specif-
ically the Rational Government of China, For his part of
the bargain, Stalin was to regain a position in the Far
East equivalent to the Russian position before defeat by
Japan in the war of'904-05. Stalin's terms were to be
unquestionably fulfilled according to the agreement.

Still under the delusion that negotiations with the
Communists and defeat of the Japanese with some help from
the Chinese was the United States policy, the Embassy in
Chungking continued to function, During Hurley's absence
from China the Embassy in Chungking was under the control
of'he Charge d'Affairs, George Atcheson, Shortly after
Hurley returned to Washington, Atcheson reported that the
Generalissimo had stiffened his attitude toward the Commun-
ists. According to Atcheson disastrous civil conflict and
chaos would be inevitable unless something was done either
to influence Chiang Kai-shek to reconcile his differences
with Mao, or, barring that, some sort of cooperation with
the Communists. Hurley opposed any such course of
action. This proved to be the last warning from Chung-

4

king. Stimson recalled Service, and Atcheson returned to
the United States in April upon Hurley's return to China.

With the Yalta agreement in his "hip-pocket," Hurley
proceeded to London. He later claimed that he received
Churchill's concurrence with American policy in China.

3Atcheson to Stettinius, February 22, 1945, U. S.Relations With China, pp. 87-92.

. Ibid. ~ u- c2-
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From London he flew to Moscow and received Stalin's
unequivocal commitment to American policy in China.

Hurley's objectives in April were to obtain the agree-
ment of'talin and Churchill to the American policy of
support for Chiang Kai-shek, A part of this policy, as it
developed toward China, consisted of resistence to
imperialism. Hurley and Roosevelt consistently discussed
opposition to the British, French and Dutch repossession of
their colonial empires. After Roosevelt's death Hurley
continued his resistence, but Truman did not emphasize this
issue. The British balked at any limitations on their6

intentions.
Contrary to his later claims, Hurley was not trying to

change the Yalta agreement at London and Moscow. Hurley8

considered the Yalta agreement absolutely essential for the
success of his primary goal. He assumed the Communists

Hearin si Militar Situation in the Far East,
pp. 28 7- ~

6Hurley to Roosevelt, November 26, 1944, Hurley to
Truman& May 28, 1945 and Stettinius to Hurley, June 10,1945. H'carin s~ Militar Situation in the Far East,
pp. 2889-93.

7Memorandum Stettinius to Truman, April 18, 1945,Harry S, Truman, Memoirs Years of Decision (New YorkiDoubleday and Company, 1955 , p. 1& Roosevelt, As He SawIt,.p, 250,
8Hurley testimony, Hearin si Militar Situation inthe Far East, pp. 2885-8 ; For refutation see Appendix NN,"Statement of'. Averell Harriman, Special Assistant tothe President, regarding Our Wartime Relations with theSoviet Union, particularly as They concern the AgreementsReached at Yalta," pp. 3328-42.
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were weak and that they would have to come to terms as soon
as Stalin publicly abandoned them. He directed his efforts
toward the realization of a Sino-Soviet treaty to eliminate
the last vestige of hope of outside support f'r Mao. At10

this point in time, about the end of the war against
Hitler, Truman came to power in the United States and began
to question the necessity for Stalin's assistance against
Japan. Although Hurley wanted to expedite the Sino-Soviet
agreement, the State Department questioned the necessity for
Soviet participation in the war against Japan. Henry111, 1" If p -hli Il, **1G Ant' S * y Gi' *
Joseph C. Grew, that he was very much aroused over his
government's failure to procure surrender of an enemy
already defeated in Nay, 1945. Grew made this position
clear to Truman and Stimson. Stimson thought Russian

12

participation against Japan desirable, since it would
reduce military requirements, and he was aware that little
military leverage could be brought to bear on the Russians

9U. S. Relations With China, p. 99.
10Romanus and Sunderland, Time Runs Out in CBI,337-39.
11Grew to Stimson, Nay 12, 1905, The Entr of theSoviet Union into the War A ainst Ja an. Nilitar Plans1 1-1 . Washingtons Department of Defense, September,1955. Mimeographed, p. 69.
12Truman, Years of Decision, I, 416-17; Memorandum,A *'nS S * y Gr t Stin n, IS y 12, 19SS. ~rh Entof'he Soviet Union into the War A ainst Ja an Militar



"unless we choose to use force." Instead of encouraging„13

the Chinese and Russians to come to terms, Truman may have
tried to delay their impending agreement until the atomic
bomb could be proved a success or failure. Truman may have
hoped that the Soviet Union would stay out of the war
against Japan if one of the conditions for entry could be
delayed; namely, the Sino-Soviet Agreement. 14

Hurley, intent upon utilizing the Sino-Soviet agree-
ment to pressure Mao, wanted action on the treaty, On

May 20, 1905, Hurley informed Truman that Roosevelt had
entrusted him with two specific missionsp

The first mission was to bring Churchill and Stalin toan agreement on the policy that the United States hasbeen pursuing in China, namely, (1) to take allnecessary action to bring about unification, under theNational Government, of all anti-Japanese armed forcesin China; (2) to endorse the aspirations of theChinese people for the establishment of' free, united,democratic Chinese Government; (3) to continue toinsist that China furnish her own leadership, make herown decisions and be responsible for her own policiesand thus work out her own destiny in her own way. Asyou no doubt have been advised by the Secretary ofState, I obtained concurrence of Churchill and Stalinon the plan outlined . . . The Second missionentrusted to me by President Roosevelt in my lastconference with him pertains to a decision affectingChina reached at the Yalta Conference . . . I amconvinced that he Phiang will agree to every oneof'herequirements but will take exception to the use oftwo words, "pre-eminent" and "lease" . . . We aretherefore, in a position to proceed with dispatch on

13Stimson to Grew, May 21, 1945, The Entr of theSoviet Union into the War A ainst Ja an Militar Plans,~11-, pp. 70-71.
14.Gar Alperovitz,

Potsdam (New Yorkp Si
125, 192, 193. 123,
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the Yalta Agreement when we are authorized to submitthe particulars thereof to the Generalissimo . . . j-5

Stalin authorized. Hurley to reveal the Yalta Agreement to
Chiang in April, but Truman delayed revelation to Chiang
until June 15, 1945.

Obviously, Hurley's efforts far transcended those of
a normal ambassador. He dealt on a personal basis with all
four heads of the Allied governments and Nao, as well as
the recently deceased Roosevelt. Truman was well advised
of Russia's intent. Harry Hopkins, in one of his last
official acts, confirmed Stalin's unequivocal commitment to
enter the war against Japan August 8, 1905, Stalin made a
categorical statement that he would do everything he could
to promote unification of China under the leadership of'hiangKai-shek. He further stated that this leadership
should continue after the war because no one else was

strong enough in China. He specifically stated no Commun-

ist leader was strong enough to unify China. He proposed
to back the Generalissimo in spite of the reservations he

expressed about him. He repeated all of his statements
made at Yalta, that he wanted a unified and stable China
and wanted China to control all of I~Ianchuria as part of a
united China. He stated categorically that he had no

territorial claims against China and mentioned specifically
Nanchuria and Sinkiang, and that he would respect Chinese

15.-Hurley to Truman, Nay 20, 1945, Lohbeck, Patrick J,
~Hurle , pp, 390-91.
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sovereignty in all areas his troops entered to fight the
Japanese. Marshal Stalin also pointed out the dangers

16

inherent in Japanese efforts to divide the allies in order
to gain terms short of'nconditional surrender and

requested a share in the eventual occupation of Japan. 17

As early as February-March, the Japanese sought
Russian mediation in their desire to end the war with the
United States and Britain. The Japanese tried to18

establish direct contact with the Soviet Government in
July, The Soviets informed the allies of these Japanese
"peace" moves. At Potsdam in July the news of successful19

test of an atomic bomb relieved the allies of the need f'r
Russian participation in the war against Japan, or so it
seemed to Truman.

In China, Hurley's position remained dependent upon
Soviet support for Chiang. Part of Hurley's position
should be challenged. For instance, in July Hurley reported
as follows&

Before the Yalta Conference, I suggested to PresidentRoosevelt a plan to force the National Government to

16Hopkins to Truman, May 29, 1945, The Entr of theSoviet Union into the War A ainst Ja an Militar Plans,~11-1, pp. 71-72.
17Robert E. Sherwood,

Intimate Histor (New Yorkp 8),

18Alexander Werth,
E. P. Dutton 4 Co., Inc.

19Ibid.p pp. 1032-33.

(New York:



make more liberal political concessions in order to
make possible a settlement with the Communists. ThePresident did not approve the suggestion,20

Such a statement contradicted Hurley's case against Stil-
well, Gauss, Service, Davies and the others. For all these
people were out of China after Yalta. If this statement
was true, Hurley's later accusations were not only improper
but insincere.

At any rate, after Yalta Hurley became convinced that
the Soviet Union would control the action of'he Chinese
Communist Party. He felt that Stalin's support of the
National Government of China under the leadership of Chiang
Kai-shek would cause the Chinese Communists to come to
terms'n July Hurley revealed how much he relied upon

21

Chiang Kai-shek in this instance~

When the Chinese Communists are convinced that theSoviet is not supporting them, they will settle withthe National Government if the National Government isrealistic enough to make generous political settle-
ments. The negotiations between the National
Government and the Communist Party at this time are
merely marking time p~pding the result of the
conference at Moscow.

Why Chiang should agree to generous political settlements,
Hurley never made clear. Evidence to the contrary existed

20
U. S. Relations with China, p, 99,

21Ibid,
22Ibid. The conference in IIoscow was conducted priorto and after the Berlin conference in Potsdam July 3 to

August 2, 1945, T. V. Soong and biolotov conducted inter-mittent discussions which finally culminated in the Sino-
Soviet Treaty of Fri.'endship and Alliance, August 14, 1945 '



at the highest levels. In July Wedemeyer told iiarshalli
If Uncle Sugar, Russia, and Britain united strongly intheir endeavor to bring about coalition of'hese twopolitical parties in China by coercing both sides tomake realistic concessions, serious post-war dis-turbances may be averted and timely effective militaryemployment of all Chinese may be obtained against theJapanese. I use the term coerce advisedly because itis my conviction that continued appeals to both sidescouched in polite diplomatic terms will not accomplishunification. There must be teeth in Big Threeapproach.23

There is no difference between this analysis and earlier
analyses by the people Hurley forced out of China. The

consensus among all observers remained the same; Chiang
must be pressured before any response could be expected.

Strangely enough, the action requested of Chiang was
considered to be in his own best interests. Chiang was
weak and Wedemeyer recognized early the weakness of his
position. Wedemeyer believed Chiang had 327 divisions of
which only the five trained by Stilwell in India were
effective troops, Having decided to withdraw, the

20

Japanese forces did withdraw in a leisurely and orderly
manner during the summer of 1945. Chinese forces, unwill-
ing to engage in, and unable to see any reason for, costly
combat operations, followed closely but carefully. What
fighting did occur was a matter of rear-guard patrol action
initiated by the Japanese. There were cases of Japanese
platoons holding up regiments or divisions for several days

23Wedemeyer
in CBI, p, 383n.

24 Ibid., p.

to jlarshall, July 9, 1945, Time Runs Out

281.



or longer. 25

The Chinese leader functioned in a leadership position
with hardly any power base. In discussions with the
Generalissimo, Soong and Hurley on July 31'945, Wedemeyer

considered the commitment to transport Government troops as
well as the provision of further lend-lease after the war.
In his report to Washington, Wedemeyer concluded with a
warning that "it would be unsound to plan upon realistic
Chinese assistance in the disarmament, demobilization, and
deportation of Japanese forces on the Asiatic mainland."„26

The weakness of the Chinese ally was such that it would be

unable to disarm even a defeated enemy.

Chiang really was as weak as Wedemeyer claimed and
this weakness jeopardized Hurley's policy. Hurley acknowl-
edged this point in August when he requested that the
Secretary of State insure that the Japanese surrender only
to the forces of the National Government. How this
impossible task should be accomplished, Hurley did not make

clear. Hurley requested aid from the State Department in
these termsc

It seems certain that there can be no politicalunification in China as long as war lords or armedfactions are strong enough to defy the National
Government. To meet this situation the terms ofsurrender with Japan should include a requirement that
Japan will be responsible for the surrender of all

25Ibid.e p. 387.
26Ibid p 392 ~ Soong and Chiang made their mainpoint by insisting that troops landed in China not be

commanded by Stilwell.



Japanese arms in China, including Japanese arms thatare in the hands of Japanese soldiers, Chinese puppettroops supporting Japan, and Chinese partisan armedbandits . . . I suggest that when Japan surrenders,all of her arms in China, and, if necessary, some ofher arms from the archipelago be used to equip theChinese Rational Army, If the United States decidesto continue to furnish lend-lease arms to the ChineseGovernment after V-J day, some might come fromAmerican owned lend-lease equipment now in otherforei gn theaters,27
Apparently, Chiang would need considerable help even after
V-J day and the United States should provide that help,
Any faction strong enough to defy Chiang had to be
eliminated or political unification would be impossible.

One faction in China contemplated defiance not only
of Chiang Kai-shek but of Hurley and the United States.
During the summer of'945 the climate in relations between
Yenan and Washington became stormy. Mao identified Hurleyas the cause for this change . Mao talked about fighting
the Americans as well as Chiang. If civil war developed
Mao said "the American Government with its own hands will
place a crushing burden on its own back."„28

After the atom bombs were dropped on Japan and Russia
entered the war against Japan, Hurley and Chiang tried toanticipate all eventualities. The Communists, clearly thestrongest organization in China, acted independent of
control as everyone warned they would. On August 11,

27
H lay ** Byr, Ausu * 11, 19A5, 1 hha k, P *r'~J. H rl, p. A03,

282* art 2 hraa, Ha* '2 -t n, (H w 1 k: 2 ana2 h * , 1966), p, 215,



Generalissimo Chiang representing the largest force in
China, instructed Communist Commander-in-Chief'hu Teh to
maintain his position and "refrain from accepting Japanese
surrenders, and await orders." Prom Yenan, Chu Teh ordered
that all anti-Japanese forces of the various Liberated
Areas should accept the enemy's surrender in their
vicinity, take over enemy arms, and occupy and administer
towns and communications previously held by both Japanese
and "puppet" troops. 29

On August 15, General Douglas MacArthur, as Supreme
Commander of the Allied Powers in the Pacific, issued his
General Order number 1, which inter alia, designated
Chiang Kai-shek as the agency for accepting the Japanese
surrender in China, Formosa and Indo-China north of the
16th parallel. MacArthur excluded Manchuria. The order

30

aa prima ra i «pp*rt t* ta m tio w Go t'a'm
to be the sole legitimate agency in China. The inclusion
of northern Indo China and Formosa in the order would also
have historic repercussions and implications.

The efforts by Hurley and MacArthur in August, 1945,
which provided for legal surrender only to Chiang's forces
failed. Wedemeyer predicted the failure of such efforts,
Even with massive United States support, puppet support,

29Edmund Clubb, 20th Centur China.
Columbia University Press, 19 , p, 255.

30Truman, Years of Decision, p, 440.

(New Yorkp
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Japanese support and Russian support, Chiang could not
accomplish such a feat. All of this support merely allowed
Chiang the opportunity to function in China without
reference to a popular base of support.

In the rapidly changing milieu existent at the end of
the war Hurley relied heavily upon the pending Sino-Soviet
Treaty. Hurley reported the Chinese Communists "alarmed by
the pending alliance between Moscow and Chungking." He

thought the Chinese Communists were losing some of the
assurance they had known early in the spring. On August31

14. Soong and Stalin in Moscow initialed the Sino-Soviet
Treaty. On that same date Chiang Kai-shek invited Mao Tse-
tung to visit Chungking for a joint discussion of state
affairs. The war, which had interrupted Chiang's efforts
to eliminate Nao, also ended on the same date ~

The State Department, as well as Hurley, considered
the Sino-Soviet treaty a decisive weapon in the efforts to
unify

China'elease

of the text of the Chinese Russian treatyrevealed that Russia has pledged her entire material
and moral support to the Chungking movement, thus
depriving the hostile Communist regime at Yenan of'hat
might have been its strongest foreign ally. Only a
few hours before the text was announced--and perhaps
because of it--Communist leader Mao Tse-tung finally
agreed to go to Chungking.32

31Hurley to Byrnes, August 13, 1945, Lohbeck, Patrick
~J. H 1, p. 40!t.

32Quote from United Press Di spatch, August 27, 194 5,Lohbeck, Patrick J. Hurle p. 405.
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This assumption proved true as far as Mao was concerned.
Mao recognized his weakened position after Japan'a capitu-
lation. I'lao proved to be amenable in Chungking, only
Chiang acted in a uncompromising manner.

The Sino-Soviet agreement of'ugust 14, 1945, ful-
filled the Yalta agreement with regard to the Far East,
This act was supposed to bring about final capitulation of
the Chinese Communist armed Party, but Chiang did not want
peace with I'lao. One observer analyzed the situation thus:

A basic settlement might have resulted if the Kuomin-tang leaders had not received a windfall in the formof American military assistance. With the assuranceof'merican backing Lthe KM/ militarists have nothesitated to plunge the country into civil war.33
The evidence supported this view which remained a valid
premise for the next auarter of a century.

Chinese leaders expressed satisfaction with the
Sino-Soviet Treaty. Chiang told Hurley that the treaty
showed an intention on the part of the Soviets to assist in
bringing about unification of the armed forces in China, as
well as an intention to support Chinese efforts to create a
strong, unified and democratic government and an intention
to support the National Government of China. To Hurley,34

success seemed eminent and he was optimistic about Chiang's
desire to come to terms with Mao. Hurley's reports

Maxwell S, Stewart, "The Myth of'atrick J. Hurley,The I'lation, Ii'ovember 10, 19II5, vol, 161, no. 19, p. 491.
U. S. Relations With China, pp, 120-21,



reflected this optimism thus~

Chiang Kai-shek will now have an opportunity to showrealistic and genuine leadership. He will have anopportunity to show his qualifications for leadershipof the Chinese people in peace as well as in War, Iam with the Generalissimo frequently. I insistcontinuously that the Chinese people must be respon-sible for their own policies, select their ownleadership, and make their own decisions.35
Hurley consistently maintained faith in Chiang Kai-shek,
although grounds for such faith remained ambivalent.

The abrupt end of the war, the Sino-Soviet treaty, and
the Russian entry into Nanchuria caused Nao to reassess his
position and he expressed his willingness to come to Chung-
king. Hurley flew to Yenan and returned to Chungking

36

with Nao. On the morning of'ugust 28, Nao met with Chiang
for the first time since 1927 and Hurley acted as mediator
in the discussions. Nao stayed in Chungking forty-three
days. Despite four specific plans proposed by Nao,

including one for popular elections of public officials,
Chiang would not agree. Mao dropped his requirement f'r38

coalition government. The Communists appeared to make a

35Ibid.
36Mao to Wedemeyer, August 24, 1945, Lohbeck, Patrick~J. H 1, p. 404 ~

Ibid., p. 405.
38U. S. Relations with China, pp. 580, 923; Mao Tse-tun Selected clerks 1 4 -1 , Vol. V. (New YorkiInternational Publishers, 195 , pp. 60-63n.

U. S. Relations with China, p. 120; Summary ofConversations between Representatives of'he RationalGovernment and of the Chinese Communist Party, pp. 577-81,
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sincere effort to meet Chiang's terms. If Chiang had
WO

any intention of'eaceful settlement there was ample basis
in August 1945.

Without any requirements being imposed on Chiang the
United States as well as Russia dedicated their might to
the maintenance of Chiang Kai-shek in power in China.
Chiang had no incentive whatsoever to agree to any consid-
eration of Mao's demands. Chiang made no concessions.
There was no discernable reason why he should have done so
as long as America backed him up without qualification.

Hurley, the one American of import who had dealt with
Mao, chose the time of this second meeting with Mao to
return to the United States. The reason f'r this approach
to the Mao-Chiang negotiations remained obscure for some
time. But the attempt by the British to restore their
empire in the Far East alerted Hurley to changes in United
States policy since Roosevelt's death. Hurley's departure
during the Mao-Chiang negotiations may be explained by his
concern for what he considered a violation of Roosevelt's
policy of resistence to colonial imperialism by Britain,
France and the Netherlands. On September 11 Hurley wrote
to Secretary of State James Byrnes~

Perhaps the Government has decided not to continuewhat President Roosevelt outlined as the long rangepolicy of'he United States in regard to China.Whether this is true or not there seems a definite
Wo

Memorandum to Hurley by Chou En-lai, September 16,1945, Lohbeck, Patrick J. Hurle, pp. 407-08.
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trend in American policy toward the support ofimperialism rather than democracy in Asia. I wouldlike to have an opportunity to discuss the AmericanAsiatic policy with you, Sir and the President.+1
On September 16, 1945, the British, on their own

initiative took over Hong Kong. This move caused Hurley
42

to return to Washington for a clarification of United
States policy.

I'Iao proved stubborn and refused abject surrender to
Chiang. Chiang was not at a loss to explain the reason f'r
the Communist resistance to his arbitrary demands. Before
Hurley left, the Generalissimo gave him an Aide-memoire
dated September 19, which stated

Recent reports appearing in the press indicate thatthe United States Government is establishing apolitical Advisory Board for General MacArthur toassist in determining United States polciy in the FarEast. I&Ir. George Atcheson and Mr. John Service amongothers are included in the advisory group. I'Ir.Atcheson and Mr. Service are generally accepted inChina as men of strong convictions that a coalitionbetween the Communist and Kuomintang parties should bearbitrarily imposed. They both have expressed viewsthat are definitely unfriendly to the Central Govern-ment of China and clearly reveal their support ofpolicies of the Communist party . . . The Communistsare now placing great stress on this fact. They knowthat Mr. Atcheson and Mr. Service are sympathetic, andthey interpret the above-referred to appointments y.sindicative of the change in United States policy,
The appointment of two minor functionaries to a military

41.Hurley to Byrnes, September 11, 1945, Lohbeck,Patrick J. Hurle , p. 416.
42Truman, Years of Decision, p. 450.
43 .Aide-memoire from Chiang to Hurley, September 19,1945. Lohbeck, Patrick J. Hurle, p, 421,



staff in Japan jeopardized United States policy in China
according to Chiang Kai-shek. Hurley later took this cue
from Chiang, but the British occupation of'ong Kong was

the dominant reason for his departure from China. 4.4

Prior to his departure from Chungking, Hurley reported
negotiations between the two leading parties of China to be

progressing, and the discussion and rumors of civil war

receding as the conference continued. Hurley delayed45

departure until September 22, upon the earnest request of
both the Chinese Communist representatives and the Chinese
Government negotiators "to render assistance in reaching

„46agreement." Hurley's influence in China ceased September
22, 1945. His influence on American policy, however, did
not end with his departure from China.

44 Truman, Years of'ecision, pp. 446-50.
45U. S. Relations with China, pp. 105-07.
46Ibid., p. 107.



CHAPTER V

THE AFTERI&IATH

After Hurley departed China, ICao Tse-tung remained in
Chungking expressing agreement to over-all nationalization
of'rmed forces provided that there was some democrati-
zation of the state. The Communists controlled most of the
North China countryside and had a strong head start over
the Nationalists in the race for occupation of Nanchuria.
The United States quickly airlifted three Nationalist
armies to key positions in north and east China and then
provided ships for the northward movement by sea of large
numbers of Nationalist troops. The Americans held politi-1

cal authority in trust for the Chungking Government. The

United States maintained that it was "non-involved" in
Chinese domestic affairs. In practice, aid given to one

side in a two-sided fight resulted automatically in
involvement. Chiang recognized this as did Ii'lao Tse-tung.
Chiang, of course, depended on this condition continuing
unabated.

The Soviet Army in Nanchuria proved unwilling to wait
for the arival of Nationalist military units to transfer
authority solely to Chungking's representatives. November

1Wedemeyer, Wedeme er Re orts, p, 366.
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15, three months after the Japanese capitulation, was the
original date for a Soviet withdrawal. The Nationalists
asked the Soviets to delay withdrawal. The Nationalists2

were completely unprepared to occupy Manchuria against
Communist opposition. Wedemeyer recommended to Chiang

that, prior to an advance into Manchuria, the areas south
of'he Great Wall should be consolidated and communications

lines in those areas secured, Wedemeyer concluded his
report to Washington with the following assessmenti

The Generalissimo will be unable to stabilize the
situation in north China for months or perhaps even
years unless a satisfactory settlement with the
Chinese Communists is achieved . . . He will be unable
to occupy Manchuria for many years unless satisfactory
agreements are reached

Chiang paid little attention to such advice.
When Chiang launched a general attack against the

Communists on November 15, 1905. the last Communist

negotiator, Chou En-lai, departed Chungking for the

Communist stronghold in Yenan. The Communists considered
further negotiations to be pointless. 4

On November 26 Hurley submitted his resignation.5
Though his real purpose may never be known, his resignation
was not unrelated to the rapidly deteriorating situation in
China. His thesis had been proven invalid on two counts.

2 Clubb, 20th Centur China, p. 262,
3U. S. Relations with China, pp, 131-32.

Ibid., p. 111.
5Ibid., pp. 112, 581-84.



Mao had not capitulated and Chiang had not prover very
statesmanlike, Chiang renewed the anti-Mao crusade which

had been interrupted by the Japanese in 1937 'n his
previous efforts Chiang enjoyed Russian and German support,
but in 1945 he had the support of the United States.

Another reason for Hurley's dramatic resignation could
have been Hurley's decision to return to politics as usual.
Service in a Democratic administration with the war over

would have had little appeal to Hurley. Hurley alternately
threatened and offered to resign. The day before he

announced his resignation, Hurley agreed to return to his
post. The Secretary of'tate, James Byrnes, thought Hurley
would return to China. The fact that he did not return to6

China, but instead, released the news of his decision to
the Press along with a blast at the State Department and

the Foreign Service was strongly indicative of outside
pressure, He revealed the nature of this pressure in 1951:

About that time someone called my attention to the
Daily Worker and the Chicago Sun and to certain
speeches made by a man who was supposed to be a
Communist member of Congress named Delaney, /sic all
of which indicated to me that my secret reports to the
State Department were made available to the Communists

, And then Wang Shih-chieh, the Minister of
Foreign Relations& had told me that my good friend,
Jim Byrnes, had said to him that the war was over and
they were going to give my place to a deserving
Democrat . . ~ Well about that time a Dr. Quo, who was

6U. ST Congress, Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations.
Investi ation of Far Eastern Polic Hearin s, Before the
Committee on Foreign Relations, 79th Cong., 1st sess.,
(December 1945), (Printers Copy), pp. 206-07. (Hereinafter
referred to as Hearin s~ Investi ation of Far Eastern
~Polic .)
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at the United Nations, came down to warn me again thatif I would go to China, the idea was to get me overthere and find some pretext for public dischargeSince the Amerasia case, I have been convinced thatthe information was being . . . stolen or taken fromthe State Department . . . So that is where informationwas coming from that in my mind I was charging toothers.7
P n r d bu*Ui*dsta*s **i*d
Chiang Kai-shek and the Kuomintang, including Chinese
representatives, contacted Hurley. They apparently did not
wish him to return to China.

Reflection on this incident and the events which
resulted from it suggested the conclusion that Hurley was
partly motivated by reluctance to accept the responsibility
f'r the failure of his own policy. The desire to turn that
failure to the advantage of his party may also have played
at least some part in his decision. Hurley spent time in
New Mexico after his return from China and press reports
suggested he was to be a Republican candidate for the
United States Senate. She strong Republican tide in 1946

8

failed to carry him to victory over the Democrat incumbent.
Two years later he tried again and was soundly defeated by
Clinton P. Anderson, Secretary of Agriculture for Truman.

The State Department recommended to the War Department
on December 9, a policy requiring "tact and discretion,

7Hearin s& Militar Situation in the Far East, p. 2937.All evidence indicated that Hurley's resignation waswritten before Congressman Hugh Delacy's speech was deliv-ered. Con essional Record, November 26, 1945, p. 10950.
8James F. Byrnes, All in One Lifetime (New York~Harper and Brothers, Publishers, 1958 , pp. 328-29.
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patience and restraint." The policy involved United States

influence and the "capacity to exercise that influence in

the light of shifting conditions in such a way as to

encourage concessions by the Central Government, by the

so-called Communists, and by the other factions." The

State Department recommended that Wedemeyer "put into

effect the arrangements to assist the Chinese National

Government in transporting Chinese troops to Manchurian

ports, including the logistical support of such troops."

Supposedly, the proposal to move Chiang's troops was

conditional. Actually, the United States imposed no10

conditions on the aid.
A statement by President Truman on December 15,

revealed the implicit contradictions in policy. Truman

decl aredi

United States support will not extend to United
States military intervention to influence the course
of any Chinese internal strife . ~ . The United
States is cognizant that the present National
Government of China is a "one-party government"
Peace . . . will be furthered if the basis of this
Government is broadened to include other political
elements in the country . . . The existence of
autononomus armies such as that of the Communist
army is inconsistent with, and actually makes impos-
sible, political unity in China . . . and detailed
steps necessary to the achievement of political
unity in China must be worked out by the Chinese
themselves and that intervention by any foreign

9Nemorandum by Byrnes for the War Department, December
9, 1945. U. S. Relations with China, p. 606.

10Ibid,, p. 60'7,
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government in these matters would be inappropriate. 11

Any United States intervention on behalf of one party would

certainly "influence the course of any internal Chinese

strife," The Rational Government was the only government

the United States would recognize. The State Department's

*0* At'd- r- *r Chi qrqrh
tance did not materialize. Only once, in 1946, did

Marshall suspend aid because Chiang continued his arbitrary
attempts to solve China's problems militarily. Truman12

supported Chiang in his efforts, yet maintained that there
was no intervention.

Hurley testified December 5, 1945, before the Senate

Committee on Foreign Relations. For four days Hurley

rationalized his errors6

In the defeat of a policy approved by President
Roosevelt and approved by Secretary Stettinius,
I believe that Nr. Dean Acheson, who is now the Under
Secretary, took the leading part. I do not know how
many career men, if any, assisted him in his defeat of
that policy, but I do know the policy was defeated,&3

Others named by Hurley included George Atcheson, John

Service and John Davies. Two of these men, Service and

Atcheson, Chiang named in his Aide Memoire of September 19,

1945. Hurley continued virtually irrational8

11Statement by President Truman on United States
Policy toward China, December 15, 1905, U. S. Relations
ith Chi pp. 608-09.

12Ch'en, Nao and the Chinese Revolution, p. 278'soup
America's Failure in China, 19 1-19 9, p. 338.

13Hearin s6 Investi ation of Far Eastern Polic, p, 150,



That these men disagreed with the American policy is
correct, but my contention with them and understand--I
assembled them and talked to them and stated the
policy, I have asked for the record of my statement
of policy, early, after the President appointed me
Ambassador, and inasmuch as we were in an active war
theater--it was my contention that when the "die is
cast," when the decision is made, when the policy is
announced by duly constituted authority, it becomes
the duty of every one of us to make that policy
effective; and I charge that these gentlemen did not
do that. f)ey continued to snipe the policy and
defeat it.

Hurley's policies had such dynamic qualities that it became

difficult to determine exactly when the die was cast.

Exactly which of'urley's policies these accused gentlemen

defeated remained necessarily obscure. Hurley continueds

They were disloyal to the American policy. I would.
not say they were disloyal to the United States
Government, they believed that it would be best for
China to destroy the National Government and the
leadership of Chiang Kai-shek, but I tried to tell
them that I could not argue, while I could recommend
to Chiang Kai-shek and the Government the changes that
I thought should take place--which I did, and a lot of
changes did take place--that while I might agree with
them on a lot of their criticism, our directive, mine
and theirs, was to prevent the collapse of Chiang Kai-
shek, and whether I believe in it or not, as soon as
the policy was made by my superior it became my duty
to make it effective . . . 15

Hurley forgot to add that all these gentlemen had been

relieved by him prior to his return in April 1945. He also

forgot to mention that their policy was never followed,

primarily because of Hurley. Hurley claimed that Service

and Davies were brought back to Washington and placed in

14 Ibid e p 159 ~

15Ibid» p. 162.
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positions where they became his supervisors'urley,16

better than anyone else, knew that this claim was ridicu-
lous. Hurley acknowledged no superiors except the

President. Hurley never acknowledged supervision. Still
more important, the people Hurley referred to never

influenced policy. If they had influenced policy, Chiang

would have been forced to do something, After Hurley's

arrival in China, Chiang made no effort to change. Prior
to Roosevelt's death the State Department remained in the

dark about policy. After Roosevelt's death, only Hurley

made and directed China policy. 17

In his letter of resignation and his testimony before

the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations in December 1945,

Hurley provided unsubstantiated material for later exploita-
ion by the China Lobby. The resignation of Hurley was18

used to discredit the policy of America in China and to

encourage support for Chiang. There began a series of

attacks on the State Department which made Hurley's

resignation the point of departure and clearly reflected
19Chinese influence. The China Lobby began a seditious

16Ibid.

One argument used to discredit the Yalta Agreement
alluded to Roosevelt's deteriorated physical condition, If
Roosevelt was weak at Yalta in early February, 1945, how
much more weak he must have been nearly two months later
during the Hurley interviews, only days before his death.

18Hurley to Truman, November 26, 1945, U ~ S. Relations
with China, pp. 581-84.

19Ross Y, Koen, The China Lobb in American Politics,
(New York3 The NacNillan Company, 19 0 , pp. 18 , 302, A
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campaign. The campaign predicated loyalty to Chiang as a

proper test of loyalty to the United States, The fact that
Hurley had tried to effect coalition government between the
Communists and the Nationalists caused the lobby concern.
No other government official ever went quite so far to
disclaim publicly any connection between the Chinese

Communists and Moscow. His self-assigned mission after20

Stilwell's recall was coalition government, albeit, based
on Communist capitulation. His criticism of American21

officials, especially Service, appeared over and over
blatantly misrepresented.

Hurley's charges later formed the basis for McCarthy-

Congressman, Dondero, delivered a long speech on the floor
of the House of Representatives December 10, 1945. The
speech took Hurley's attacks on the State Department and
combined with articles published in the Washington Times-
Herald and the San Francisco Examiner, claimed that theState Department sabotaged policy in the Far East. There
were no specifics. Bishop Paul Yupin contributed thearticles to the newspapers, Yupin served as "unofficialadviser" to the Chinese delegation at the San Francisco
Conference on the United Nations. Hearin ss State De art-
ment Em lo ee Lo alt Investi ation, pp. 202 -2 , 2277.
Yupin was known in the State Department as one who was veryimpressed with China's Gestapo Chief, Tai-Li. Whether ornot the Church's general antipathy to "Communists"
encouraged Tai Li is not clear. Memorandum Augustus S.
Chase, April,26, 1944, N. A. file 893.00/97. The Bishop in
China was local leader of the Tu Tao Tuan, Tai Li's fascist
Youth Organization. The debate in Congress subsided whenit appeared that Chiang would win. With the exception of
the Senator from Nebraska, Kenneth S. Wherry, Republicans
acquiesed with Administration policy in China until 1948.In 1948 Truman administered defeat on the Republicans, andthe issue was revived,

20Hearin si Investi ation of Far Eastern Polic
pp, 26-35, 131.

21Ibid., p. WOK.



ism. The technique used by Hurley in the 1945 Hearings
served as a forerunner of McCarthy's technique. Unfounded

charges, no specifics, complete disregard f'r chronological
outline, evasive answers to questions, and the arbitrary
naming of names. Actually, NcCarthy accused many of the
people Hurley had accused in his unsubstantiated testimony
in December 1945. The obvious tragedy for an individual
such as Hurley to accept Chiang's line would not prove

catastrophic. The real tragedy materialized in the context
of the 1949-51 era. 22

The hyperbole reached new heights in the late 1940's.
In July, 1948 the House Committee on Un-American Activities
began a series of hearings in which a number of ex-

Communists gave testimony concerning Communist "espionage
activities" in the United States prior to and during World

War II. Two factors relating to the allegations that
Communists had infiltrated the United States government
were important to the campaign to convince Americans that
China was lost by the forces of Chiang Kai-shek because of
American traitors. First, was the fact that the charges
once made could not be disproved. Second, was the fact
that the number of individuals who could ultimately be

included was virtually limitless. As a consequence of the
first factor, writers for the China Lobby consistently

22
By 1949 almost all of Hurley's unsubstantiated

charges and assumptions enjoyed a wide acceptance. All ofthese charges were repeated by Senator John F, Kennedy,
Con ressional Record, January 30, 1949, p, A993,
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succeeded in identifying Secretary of State Acheson as the
Humber-One target. Hurley's 1945 testimony was a regular
source for the accusations,

Immediately after the 1948 election, frustrated
Republicans began to zero-in on China policy. By the end

of 1909, the China bloc in Congress, hardly very numerous

before 1949, succeeded not only in making hostility to
China policy a party matter but also employed the technique
of'ssociating a particular official who had been named by

a Catholic ex-Communist with responsibility for American

policy in China. The allega.tion was then followed by the
statement that the official had been named as a Communist

or tool of the Communists. 24

McCarthy's charges were a "fraud and a hoax perpe-
trated on the Senate of the United States and the American
people," The same verdict applied to Hurley's charges inII 2

1945.

The only failure acknowledged by Hurley was a failure
to achieve unity in China and this failure he rationalized
by blaming the Chinese Communists for not acceding to
Chiang's demands, Further, the Chinese Communists did not

capitulate because they deduced from the Atcheson and

23Hearin ss
p. 150,

24Koen, The
25..-Hearin si

Investi ation Re

Investi tion of Far Eastern Polic

China Lobb in American Politics, p. 90.
State De artment Em lo ee Lo altort, p. 1 7.
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Service appointments to NacArthur's Staff that Hurley did

not correctly reflect United States policy. Convinced of26

the noxious and intrinsic peril that the Chinese Communist

Party posed for the future of'estern civilization and the

interests of American democracy, Hurley believed Chiang's

wildest claims. Hurley rationalized support for Chiang27

because he deduced that Nao was weak. Just before the28

war ended Hurley expressed himself in explicit termsi

The strength of the armed forces of Chinese Communists
has been exaggerated. The area of territory
controlled by the Communists has been exaggerated.
The number of Chinese people who adhere to the Chinese
Communist Party has been exaggerated. State Depart-
ment Officials, Army Officials, newspaper and radio
publicity have in a large measure accepted the
Communist leader's statements in regard to the
military and political strength of the Communist Party
in China. Nevertheless, with the support of the Soviet
the Chinese Communists could bring about civil war in
China. Without the support of the Soviet the Chinese
Communists Party will eventually participate as a
political party in the National Government,49

Hurley never asserted that the Soviet Union assisted the

Chinese Communists. Such an assertion developed later,
Such an assertion failed to account for the Soviet dis-

mantling of Manchurian industry in 1946 or the Korean War.

Both of these events disadvantaged the Chinese Communists.

Unwilling to believe that United States desires could

not shape the postwar world, and unprepared for Nao's

Hearin sc Investi ation of Far Eastern Polic , p. 59.
27The Ambassador in China to Stettinius, December 4,

1944, N. A. File 89300/12444.
28

U ~ S. Relations with China, pp. 99-100.
2o'Ibid,
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triumph in China, most Americans became easy victims of

simple explanations. They were ready to believe the

hysterical charges of treason and subversion, that the

Democrats had "sold out« Chiang and that Communists in the
State Department had engineered the take-over. In order to
attack the Democrats„ the roles of Gauss, Hurley,

Stettinius and Stimson, all Republicans, had to be ignored,
The Republicans attacked China policy to demonstrate

"democratic incompetence.« The Republicans felt free to
attack "because there never /had[ been bipartisan cooper-
ation in this area." This ironic approach omitted all«30

reference to any Republicans. Neither the purge by Hurley
nor Hurley's role in China received examination by John F,

Dulles, Republican liason officer with Truman and

Eisenhower's Secretary of State. Dulles revealed a greater
irony in 1950 when he said~

The greatest failure of Soviet Communism has been in
Yugoslavia, itself a Communist-dominated country,
Non-Communists have had little or nothing to do withthis. It resulted from a defect that is inherent in
the present Stalin brand of Communism. Marshal Titois a Communist. But his Communism differs fromStalin's. It is a brand that Stalin and the leaders
of the gyviet Communist party consider to be rank
heresy.~

The people Hurley condemned consistently used Tito as an

John Foster Dulles, War or Peace, (New York: The
30

I6acmillan Company, 1950), p. 179.
31Ibid., p. 153, All the individuals fired by Hurleyreferred pointedly to Tito in Yugoslavia as an example

appropriate to the situation in China.
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example. Dulles soon lost this ability to distinguish
between Soviet Communism and other National Communisms.

Prior to the Korean War the decision was made that
vital interests of the United States were not involved in
China. In 1948-49 a mass of material appeared supporting
this assumption. If America could not sol~e Chinese

problems, surely the Chinese thenselves could not, The

task of rehabilitating the devastated country would be

tremendous. Even assuming that the Chinese Communists gave

the country a relatively efficient and honest government

and brought the country some stability the Chinese would

still be confronted with long-range problems of immense

proportions, On November 8, 19LI8, the Embassy in China32

reported the following assessmentc

The main problem facing the new government is to do
those things it ought to do in meeting the minimum
requirements the government must provide for those it
rules, Here we may fairly question whether the new
government has this capacity, and from all indicationsit would appear that the answer is in the negative

. .33

China's impoverishment meant an inability to accumulate

capital needed for the immensely large initial outlay in
any program of industrialization.

This view duly appeared in the national media, New

32Tsou, America's Failure in China 1 41-4 , p. 394.

A Series of Chronicle Summaries by the American
Embassy in Nanking to the Department of State during 1948
on the General Situation. November 8, 1948, U. S. Relations
W'*il CM pp. 383, 918.



York Times editor C. L. Sulzberger, reported in February,

1949'he
State Department view-which is prevailing policy-is that the U.S.S.R., even if it establishes truly

cozy relations with 1lr. Mao, cannot provide thenecessary cadre and assistance for the Chinese to facetheir fundamental problems and that the Communistswill wear themselves out in the slough of'isery, justas did General Chiang,3@

George Kennan, then head of the Plans and Policies Division,
told a round table conference held in October 1949, to
discuss China policyt

It has been my own thought that the Russians are
perhaps the people least able to combine with theChinese in developing the resources of China and
producing anything which in a physical sense would bedangerous to us . . . China is a competitor withSoviet Siberia for such things as the Soviet govern-
ment may have to give--and 1 have heard Stalin expressthis same //ought and I think with completesincerity.~~

Apparently some sophistication remained at the policy
making level until 1950.

For a few months the last part of 1909 and the first
part of 1950 a defacto relationship between Communist

China and the United States existed. The State Depart-36

ment contemplated the loss of Formosa without concern,

34,
New York Times& February 18, 1949, p. 8.
Hearin sc Institute of Pacific Relations, p. 1558.
Harrison Forman, Blunder in Asia {New York'idier,36

1950), p. 103,

See Appendix I.



CONCLUSION

Despite Hurley some sophistication remained evident
in American policy during the first half of 1950. The

Korean War shocked this tentative condition. Whatever else
that may be said for the war, it saved Chiang Kai-shek.

President Truman, unwilling to control General MacArthur

allowed him to cross the 38th parallel in an effort to
reunite all of Korea by force. This refusal to settle f'r
a status- uo-ante situation brought the Chinese Communists

into the war. Mao's government issued several warnings1

that any close approach to the Chinese border by UN troops
might lead to Chinese intervention, The Chinese warnings

went unheeded. The Japanese easy victories over Britain
and America in 1901 had not removed the myth of Asian

inferiority, but the myth exploded in the winter of 1950,

On November 24, 1950, NacArthur started an offensive to
2end the war, A military victory by Lin Piao's troops

quickly followed. The trauma of the defeat ultimately
caused Truman to exert control and relieve NacArthur.

When Chennault failed he blamed Stilwell, When Hurley

1Harry S. Truman, Nemoirs Years of Trial and Ho e,
(New York& Doubleday and Company, 195 , pp. 3 1, 359-61.

2Ibid.& p& 381.
3 ~,Ibid.& pp, 366, 373-77.
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failed he blamed Service and Davies. When MacArthur failed
he blamed everyone but himself. In the chaos which

surrounded MacArthur's relief, Hurley returned to

Washington. Hurley testified in 1951 and disclosed several
documents. Mainly, Hurley condemned the Yalta agreement,

With Mao in charge of China and having defeated one of the
two American military heroes of WW II& Hurley identified
the Yalta agreement as America's great failure in the Far

East. This bit of interaction with United States domestic

politics was not inevitable. The China Lobby defined the

Communist victory in China as a victory for Russia. The

anti-Communist crusade and witchhunt produced no Communists,

but Alger Hiss was convicted of perjury. Hiss was at
Yalta, Hiss was in the State Department and part of the

Hew Deal.

The United States had no political policy in China

during World War II. Hurley was sent to determine whom
6

the United States should support. At the time of'is
arrival the consensus of all observers in China was that
Chiang was weak and getting weaker. The corollary to that
deduction was that Mao was strong and getting stronger.
Hurley accepted Chiang at face value and proceeded to

Ibid., p. 382.

Hearin s& Militar Situation in the Far East,
p, 288'&&,

6Stilwell Pa ers, pp. 202-04', Hearin s& Investi ation
of Far Eastern Polic, p. 7.
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develop a United States policy to assist Chiang. He

received Stalin's agreement to such a policy in the Sino-

Soviet agreement which may have been superfluous~

This pact was beneficial in that it might help, make
clear to skeptics in the United States that Russia's
attitude was the same as the United States.7
To Hurley it was incomprehensible that a small weak,

poor ragtag group which he observed in Yenan could

effectively compete politically with Chiang, especially if
Russian assistance could be circumscribed or enlisted on

the side of Chiang. Hurley claimed that the State8

Department sabotaged his policy. Hurley believed the

Russians and British policies to be in accord with the

United States policy. The only way that policy could be

upset would be the arming of the Chinese Communists, Hurley

rested his case on a tautology. The Communists were weak.

If they could be kept weak, Chiang could win. Any arming

of the Chinese Communists would defeat Hurley's policy. 10

The Communists won, so someone armed the Chinese Communists,

7Gunther Stein, "The Other China," Forei Affairs,
October 1945, vol. 20, no. 1, p, 74,

8Hurley, Wedemeyer and Miles told the Joint Chiefs of
Staff in 19y5 that, "They were all of the opinion that the
rebellion in China could be put down by comparatively small
assistance to Chiang's Central Government." Leahy, I Was
There, p. 395.

Hearin ss Investi ation of Far Eastern Folic
pp. 12» 2 -35» 39»

10Ibid., pp. 127, 160.
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11
The Soviets were not the transgressors of this policy.

According to Hurley, a small group in the State Department

who wanted to let "the government that I was sent over
12there to sustain fall" sabotaged his policy.

Hurley's critics claimed that Chiang would definitely
fall unless certain changes were made, Some thought arming

the Communists would assist in the war against Japan. Some

felt coalition government was the answer. Stilwell

considered the former. Roosevelt wanted the latter. As

long as aid was forthcoming, Chiang had no reason to seek

peace or unity. Chiang knew that peace and unity would

cause the Americans to restrict their assistance and

possibly even withdraw. The United States never made aid

conditional, although that was the stated policy after
1945

Some reputable Americans, friendly with both Stilwell
and Hurley, believed that Mao was the best bet in China.

Representative Albert J. Engel reported such a conclusion

in 1945, Analysis of the material available in 194513

would have revealed Mao's strength as well as his
independence. Though Mao's strength seemed to be in his14

Ibid.) 16.
12Ibid,, p, 12.
13Con essional Record, November 27, 1945, p. A5406.
14 Testimony, "Transcript of'roceedings" Loyalty

Review Board meeting in the matter of'ohn S. Service,
Hearin s State De artment Em lo ee Lo alt Investi ation,
pp. 1902-2807. Passim.
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social and economic administration, his military prowess
received more attention in later studies. It was I&1ao's

military prowess that obscured his greater strength. Al-
most every American knew that IiIao said; "Power grows out of
the barrel of a gun." Mao's next sentence was less well
known; "Our principle is that the party commands the
gun." Ostensibly, Americans subscribed to a similarit 15

concept. The idea was difficult to enforce as a principle
in the Far East. General I~IacArthur articulated the view
as follows~

A theater Commander, in any campaign, is not merelylimited to the handling of troops; he commands that
whole area politically, economically, and militarily.
You have got to trust at that stage of'he game whenpolitics fails, and the military take over, you trustthe military

MacArthur apparently considered a war an end in itself,
devoid of political objectives outside the military realm,
His position was not unique in America, Stilwell, to the
contrary, notwithstanding.

I'Iao achieved his victory in China. He then challenged
the United States on its own terms and achieved another
victory. The United States denied Mao his legitimate place
in international affairs. The policy was based upon two

assumptions; the weakness of the I'Iaoist appeal in China and
Russian complicity. Dean Rusk, Assistant Secretary of

15Schram, The Political Thou t of Mao Tse-tun
p. 209.

16Hearin si Nilitar Situation in the Far East, p. 48,
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State for Far Eastern Affairs could say in 1951:

We do not recognize the authorities in Peiping for
what they pretend to be, The Peiping regime may be acolonial Russian government-a Slavonic Irianchukuo on alarger scale. It is not the government of China. It
does not pass the first test. It is not Chinese. Itis not entitled to speak for China in the community ofnations.17

From the same platform, John F, Dulles agreed with Vir,

Rusk. The next week Dean Acheson, Secretary of State,18

testified that he concurred with Rusk's assessment and that
no one in the State Department was even thinking about
recognizing the ll'laoist regime. No United States official19

disputed this claim, though a great deal of sophistication
was added. 20

Failure to comprehend the Chinese situation was not a
unique affliction affecting only the United States. The

Americans suffered much the same fate in 1945 as the Russians
suffered in 1927 when the Russian agent, Borodin, put his
faith in Chiang Kai-shek. A fundamental distinction
between the Russians and the Americans was the Russian
pragmatic approach. The Russians believed they should
learn from experience and relegated their envoy to

17New York Times, Nay 19, 1951, p. 3, IIr, Rusk servedas a Colonel on General Stilwell's Staff'n the China-
Burma-India Theater.

18Ibid,
19Hearin s~ Militar Situation in the Far East . 12
20U. S., Department of'tate, "U. S ~ Policy on Non-recognition of Communist China," De artment of State
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obscurity. The Americans, on the other hand, turned upon

themselves and indulged themselves. Hurley and partisan
domestic politics allowed such an indulgence. The

unqualified and unchallenged power of the United States
allowed such indulgence without fear of retribution.



APPENDIX I

DEPARTEKNT OF STATE
PUBLIC AFFAIRS AREA--POLICY ADVISORY STAFF

(SPECIAL GUIDANCE NO, 28& DECEMBER 23& 1949)
Policy Informatinn Paper--Formosa»

I. Problem

To formulate information policy which will minimize
damage to United States prestige and others'orale by the
possible fall of Formosa to the Chinese Communist forces.
II. Background

A, Comment on Formosa is on the increase as the
Communist advances on the Chinese mainland leave the island
as the last substantial part of China under Nationalist
control, Attention is focused by three principal elements&

1. Communists, world-wide, who charge the United
States with conspiring to 'build the island into a fortress
to be taken over by the United States (if it does not
already control it), thereby trying to brand the United
States with the mark of aggressive imperialism, and also
hoping to get us involved in a risky and unpromising
venture;

2. Pro-Nationalists (principally in the United
States) who consider Formosa a redoubt in which the
Government could survive, and who tend to create an impression
the United States is delinquent if it fails to "save
Formosa;"

3. Groups in the United States who are inclined to
be critical of the United States for failure to act to
prevent loss of the island to the Communists, largely
because of mistaken popular conception of its strategic
importance to United States defense in the Pacific,

B. Loss of the island is widely anticipated, and the
matter giQ in which civil and military conditions there
have deteriorated under the Nationalists adds weight to the
expectation. Its fall would threaten&

1. Loss of United States prestige at home and
abroad to the extent we have become committed in the public
mind to hold it&

2. Damage to the morale of other nations,

»This document was declassified and reprinted--over the
strenuous objections of Secretary of State Acheson,
Hearin s& Nilitar Situation in the Far East, pp. 1667-69,
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particularly in the Far East, which are disturbed by the
Communist gains and fear its possible further advances.

C. Formosa, politically, geographically, and
strategically, is part of China in no way especially
distinguished or important. Although ruled by the Japanese
(as "Taiwan" ) for 50 years, historically it has been
Chinese, Politically and militarily it is a. strictly
Chinese responsibility.It is true that the technical status of the island
remains to be determined by the Japanese peace settlement,
but the Cairo agreement and Potsdam declaration and the
surrender terms of September 2, 1945, looked to its return
to China and the United Stares facilitated its take over by
Chinese troops shortly after VJ-day.

Even the small United States military advisory group
sent there at Chinese Government request was completely
withdrawn a year ago, Merely a handful of'ilitary attach%
personnel with diplomatic status remains. The United
States never has had military bases there, and never has
sought any special concessions there.

ECA work done on the island, particularly through theJoint Commission on Rural Reconstruction& has been of purely
economic and technical nature for assistance in improvementof'onditions, and no quid pro quo had been sought.

D. United States pu'blic opinion has concerned itself
primarily with the question of'he islands'trategic
importance; there has been insistent demand from a few
sources for military action by the United States, but it
has not assumed significant proportions. Rather public
opinion obviously is divided and uncertain, and ther is no
apparent consensus for a particular course of active
intervention.
III. Treatment

A. If rising public interest warrants it, graduallyincreasing attention may be paid Formosa, to establish,
publicly, the facts indicated below. Overseas use should
be made of unofficial materials in public analysis and
comment appearing both at home and abroad, as well asofficial statements as they may appear. Label conflictingpublic statements properly as "individual expressions of
opinion," as "unofficial, " etc.

3. All material should be used best to counter thefalse impressions thats
1. Formosa's retention would save the Chinese

Government;
2. The United States has a special interest in or"designs on" the island or any military bases on Formosa;
3. Its loss would seriously damage the interests ofeither the United States or of other countries opposing

communism;
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The United States is responsible for or committed
in any way to act to save Formosa.

C. Without evidencing undue preoccupation with the
subject, emphasize as appropriate any of the following main
points:

1. Formosa is exclusively the responsibility of the
Chinese Governments

(a) Historically and geographically a part of
China;

(b) The national government has run the
island's affairs since the take-over and is responsible
for present conditions there;

(c) The United States has assumed no
responsibilities or obligations, actual or moral,

2, Formosa has no special military significance:
(a) It is only approximately 100 miles off the

China coast;
(b) Other potential objects of Communist

aggression are closer to points on the Chinese
mainland than to Formosa;

(c) China has never been a sea power and the
island is of'o special strategic advantage to the
Chinese Communist armed forces,

3. Economic assistance in Formosa has been for
economic and social purposes, has been consistent with
demonstrated United States concern for the welfare of the
Chinese generally, and has involved no thought of special
concessions for the United States.

4. In areas of insistent demand for United States
action, particularly in the United States itself, we should
occasionally make clear that seeking United States bases on
Formosa, sending in troops, supplying arms, dispatching
naval units, or taking any similar action would'a)

Accomplish no material good for China orits Nationalist regime&
(b) Involve the United States in a long-term

venture producing at best a new area of bristling
stalemate, and at worst possible involvement in open
warfare;

(c) Subject the United States to a violent
propaganda barrage and to reaction against our
"militarism, imperialism, and interference" even from
friendly peoples, and particularly from Chinese, who
would be turned against us anew;

(d) Eminently suit purposes of the U,S.S.R.,
which would like to see us "substantiate" its
propaganda& dissipate our energies and weaken
effectiveness of our policies generally by such
action.

5, In reflecting United States unofficial demands
for action of various kinds in Formosa, avoid giving them
prominence unwarranted by their limited (usually individual)
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source, and make clear that the total of'uch demands does
not add up to a consensus on any particular positiondif'ferent from that officially taken.

D. Avoid&
1. Speculation which would show undue concern,

with whether Nationalists can hold the island or when
Communists may take it;

2, References which would indicate important
strategic significance, or that the island is a political
entity;

3. In output to China, any emphasis on bad
conditions in Formosa under the Nationalists, although to
other areas reference can be made among reasons why
Nationalists are vulnerable there as elsewhere;

4. Statements that Formosa's final status stillis to be determined by the Japanese peace treaty;
5. Name "Taiwan"; use "Formosa."
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